Topic models for short text data

Silviu Paun

A thesis submitted for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

School of Computer Science and Electronic Engineering

University of Essex

February 2017

Abstract

Topic models are known to suffer from sparsity when applied to short text data. The problem is caused by a reduced number of observations available for a reliable inference (i.e.: the words in a document).

A popular heuristic utilized to overcome this problem is to perform before training some form of document aggregation by context (e.g.: author, hashtag). We dedicated one part of this dissertation to modeling explicitly the implicit assumptions of the document aggregation heuristic and applying it to two well known model architectures: a mixture and an admixture. Our findings indicate that an admixture model benefits more from aggregation compared to a mixture model which rarely improved over its baseline (the standard mixture). We also find that the state of the art in short text data can be surpassed as long as every context is shared by a small number of documents.

In the second part of the dissertation we develop a more general purpose topic model which can also be used when contextual information is not available. The proposed model is formulated around the observation that in normal text data, a classic topic model like an admixture works well because patterns of word co-occurrences arise across the documents. However, the possibility of such patterns to arise in a short text dataset is reduced. The model assumes every document is a bag of word cooccurrences, where each co-occurrence belongs to a latent topic. The documents are enhanced a priori with related co-occurrences from the other documents, such that the collection will have a greater chance of exhibiting word patterns. The proposed model performs well managing to surpass the state of the art and popular topic model baselines.

Acknowledgements

I am grateful to my supervisors, Udo Kruschwitz and Massimo Poesio, for letting me pursue my own academic path and for supporting me along the way. Their tolerance in the face of my excitement for sometimes divergent theoretical aspects is something I am thankful for as it offered me the necessary freedom to develop.

This dissertation has been funded by an EPSRC CASE award studentship with BT plc, whose financial and technical support I gratefully acknowledge. I am thankful to Paul Mckee and Mike Fisher, who just like my supervisors, did not impose any constraints to my academic path. Special thanks to John Davies as well for his support in the early stages of my career - I spent a wonderful summer internship at BT!

I would also like to thank my parents, Anelize and Gheorghe Paun, for their love and support along the years. I am grateful as well to my grandparents, Cernovica and Nicolae Paun. To my grandparents, Ana and Ion Paun.

Contents

1	Introduction			1		
2	Related Work					
	2.1	Topic Models		7		
		2.1.1	Core Models	7		
			2.1.1.1 The Mixture Model	8		
			2.1.1.2 The Admixture Model	9		
		2.1.2	Topic Models: A Broad Survey of the Literature	9		
		2.1.3	Topic Models for Context-Accompanied Text Data	11		
		2.1.4	Topic Models for Short Text Data	12		
	2.2	Infere	nce in Topic Models	15		
		2.2.1	Variational Inference	16		
			2.2.1.1 Standard Variational Inference	17		
			2.2.1.2 Variational Inference with Exponential Families	18		
	2.3	Evalu	ating Topic Models	19		
		2.3.1	Topic Coherence Evaluation	20		
		2.3.2	Document Clustering Evaluation	20		
		2.3.3	Document Classification Evaluation	22		
n	T	:- N/-	dala fan Single Contact Shart Tout Data	0.0		
3	Tob		dels for Single-Context Short Text Data	23		
	3.1	Motiv	ation	24		
	3.2	Model	Specification	26		
		3.2.1	The SC-LDA Model	26		
		3.2.2	The SC-MoU Model	27		

	3.3	3 Model Inference		28
		3.3.1	Parameter Inference for SC-LDA	28
		3.3.2	Parameter Inference for SC-MoU	30
		3.3.3	Document-level Topic Proportions	32
	3.4	Evalua	tion	33
		3.4.1	Dataset Selection	34
		3.4.2	Topic Coherence Evaluation	40
		3.4.3	Document Clustering Evaluation	42
		3.4.4	Document Classification Evaluation	44
	3.5	Discus	sion	44
4	A C	Co-occu	urrence-based Topic Model for Short Text Data	49
	4.1	Motiva	ation	49
	4.2	Model	Specification	51
	4.3	Model	Inference	52
	4.4	Evalua	tion	55
		4.4.1	Dataset Selection	57
		4.4.2	Topic Coherence Evaluation	58
		4.4.3	Document Clustering Evaluation	58
		4.4.4	Document Classification Evaluation	60
	4.5	Discus	sion	62
5	Exp	erimer	nting with a Subset Topic Model	65
	5.1	Motivation		66
	5.2	Model	Specification	67
		5.2.1	Choosing the Subset Space	68
	5.3	Model	Inference	70
		5.3.1	Document-level Topic Proportions	72
	5.4	Evaluation		73
		5.4.1	Dataset Selection	74
		5.4.2	Topic Coherence Evaluation	75
	5.5	Discus	sion	79

6	Con	Conclusions				
\mathbf{A}	\mathbf{Det}	Detailed Proofs for Single-Context Topic Models				
	A.1	The Single-Context Mixture of Unigrams Model	85			
		A.1.1 Deriving the Complete Conditionals	86			
		A.1.2 Deriving the Update Formulas of the Variational Parameters	88			
		A.1.3 Deriving the Evidence Lower Bound	90			
	A.2	The Single-Context Latent Dirichlet Allocation Model $\ . \ . \ . \ .$	92			
		A.2.1 Deriving the Complete Conditionals	93			
		A.2.2 Deriving the Update Formulas of the Variational Parameters	95			
		A.2.3 Deriving the Evidence Lower Bound	96			
в	Det	ailed Proofs for the Co-occurrence Topic Model	101			
	B.1	Deriving the Complete Conditionals	102			
	B.2	Deriving the Update Formulas of the Variational Parameters				
	B.3	Deriving the Evidence Lower Bound				
\mathbf{C}	\mathbf{Det}	ailed Proofs for the Subset Topic Model	109			
	C.1	Deriving the Evidence Lower Bound	112			
	C.2	Deriving the Update Formulas of the Variational Parameters $\ . \ . \ .$	116			
Re	References 12					

Chapter 1

Introduction

A great number of text collections are already available or being produced with high velocity and in large volumes, having the potential to offer value to people. Examples of such collections include digital libraries of scientific publications, news articles, books, blogs, web pages or social media posts. However, extracting useful information from large unstructured datasets remains challenging and automatic methods for doing so are essential. Topic models are a very promising way of structuring the data in an automatic fashion to make it available to end users in a more easily digestible format.

A topic model, at its core, is a probabilistic method for extracting the main themes from an unstructured collection of text. It offers end users the opportunity to search and explore data in ways beyond the traditional keyword-based queries. For example, a digital library may contain millions of documents from heterogeneous topics such as literature, biology or mathematics. A topic model could automatically detect the existence of such themes, and much more. It can allow a user to focus only on the documents part of the literature theme. It can go further and identify finer grained topics of this theme like fiction, comedy or drama. In a standard framework (e.g.: a mixed membership model like Latent Dirichlet Allocation [9]) a topic model offers two kinds of information: 1) the identified topics represented by a probability distribution over the vocabulary space where the descriptive words are those with high probabilities; and 2) the coverage of each topic in the documents.

Topic models have been shown to have wide applicability [5, 6, 8]. A few examples

include analyzing the evolution of topics over time in digital library data [7], the identification of correlated topics [4, 25], modeling authors and their publications [40] or capturing spatial and temporal patterns from blog posts [33]. Topic models can also be utilized to get a low dimensional semantic representation of the documents. This can be useful in document clustering or classification tasks [27].

In this dissertation we are concerned with topic models for short text data, an emergent area of research [26, 39, 56, 61]. This type of data where text items are short compared to traditional documents like a published paper or a news article, is present in many environments; examples include tweets, titles of scientific publications, of blogs, of news, forum conversations or short product reviews. In this text environment traditional topic models like LDA under-perform. The problem is caused by a reduced number of observations available for a reliable inference (i.e.: the words in a document). This causes topic models to suffer from sparsity.

Researchers have addressed sparsity from multiple angles: 1) context has been leveraged to aggregate documents before training the models [22, 31]; 2) general purpose models have been built which can be used when contextual information is not available [39, 56, 61]; and 3) the short text documents are enhanced a priori to the learning phase with external information [49, 50]. In this dissertation we touch on all three aspects: we introduce two models that account for context; and we build a general purpose model which enhances the documents with extra information, but the information is generated internally, from the input collection. The remainder of this chapter is dedicated to guiding the thesis.

We cover the related literature in Chapter 2. We begin with some basic theory about a mixture and an admixture model. This is followed by a review of a broad range of topic models to showcase their wide applicability. We then discuss models developed for short text data, the research focus of this dissertation. The final parts of the chapter cover a review of parameter estimation techniques, with a focus towards variational inference, the technique employed in this thesis. We conclude the chapter with a discussion on common evaluation methods.

After introducing the chapter on related literature, we now formulate the research questions which stand at the core of this dissertation. Each question is introduced below, starting from appropriate observations, and is followed by the chapter in which it is addressed.

It is known that document aggregation by context helps LDA (the admixture) to alleviate sparsity in short text data [22, 31]. At the same time, Mixture of Unigrams (the mixture) has become a popular baseline in this area [26, 36, 56, 61]; its one topic per document assumption making it attractive for short text items [59]. More than that, the mixture and the admixture are standard classes of models found at the core of a wide variety of topic models developed over the years (Chapter 2 covers an in-depth review). With these observations in mind, we formulate the following research questions:

Which class of models benefits more from aggregation in short text data, a mixture or an admixture? Can document aggregation lead to state of the art performance?

We address these questions in Chapter 3 where we explicitly model the implicit assumptions of document aggregation, and apply it to the two standard model architectures. We evaluate the enhanced models on both very short (i.e.: titles of publications) and medium (i.e.: abstracts) text items, with different opportunities for aggregation (a smaller vs. a larger number of documents per context). The evaluation targets multiple tasks such as topic coherence, document clustering and document classification. Our findings indicate that an admixture model benefits more from aggregation compared to a mixture model which rarely improved over its baseline (i.e.: the standard mixture). We also find that the state of the art in short text data can be surpassed as long as every context contains a small number of documents.

Contextual information is not always available or it does not help (i.e.: it is shared by documents which have little or no topical relationship). In these cases, a general purpose topic model is desirable. In normal text data, a classic model like LDA works well because patterns of word co-occurrences arise across the documents. However, the possibility of such patterns to arise in a short text dataset is reduced. Based on this observation we formulate the following research question:

Can short text collections be enhanced such that repeating word co-occurrences have a better chance to arise across the documents more consistently and facilitate

1. INTRODUCTION

a better topic discovery?

We address this question in Chapter 4 where we introduce a new topic model for short text items. The model assumes every document is a bag of word cooccurrences, where each co-occurrence belongs to a latent topic. The documents are enhanced a priori with related co-occurrences from the other documents, such that the collection will have a greater chance of exhibiting word patterns. We evaluate the model on two labeled datasets of tweets and one of titles of scientific publications. The latter is a dataset which we also utilized in Chapter 3 and has contextual information available. We target in the evaluation multiple tasks such as topic coherence, document clustering and document classification. The model we propose performs well managing to surpass the state of the art and popular topic model baselines. The best performing contextual model introduced in Chapter 3 managed to get the best results in this evaluation as well, further strengthening the argument that contextual information is indeed useful when available.

In the previous chapters, the approaches taken to alleviate sparsity were oriented towards increasing the number of observations (i.e.: the words) available for the inference of the K-dimensional vectors governing the topic proportions (where K is the total number of topics). Considering these vectors are known to be the main reason behind LDA's poor performance in short text data (point also raised by Yan *et al.* [56]), a different approach is worth investigating:

Can topic models be improved by assuming a more appropriate number of topics for every document?

We address this question in Chapter 5, where we experiment with a topic model which assumes documents are mixtures of only a subset of the entire topic space. This complements existing work which assumes documents contain either a single topic or a mixture of the entire topic space. The main motivation behind this chapter is that neither of the aforementioned assumptions are entirely plausible. Even if the "one topic per document" assumption performs reasonably well on a short text dataset such as a Twitter collection, there can be many tweets which cover more than one topic. At the same time, even though longer documents tend to cover multiple topics, it is implausible they cover the whole topic space. The evaluation assesses coherence, a measure of topic interpretability, and is performed in varying text environments from very short to medium and longer text. The experiments indicate a connection between the size of the documents and the performance of the models with respect to the number of topics assumed for every document.

We conclude the dissertation with Chapter 6. A summary of the key points is given reiterating the novelty brought by this work and its applicability.

1. INTRODUCTION

Chapter 2

Related Work

2.1 Topic Models

Text data is being generated at a rapid pace and is available in a variety of environments such as social platforms, digital libraries or the media. For end users to be able to interact with the large amounts of available data, some form of data organization is needed. Topic models offer one way of structuring the data in an automatic fashion to make it available to people in a more easily digestible format. The organization is done based on themes identified at different levels of granularity. Such generative models of text have been developed over the years for a wide variety of applications [5, 6, 8, 25, 32, 41]. The literature on topic models is so extensive that only a partial discussion is possible.

We begin with some basic theory about topic models. This is followed by a review of a broad range of models to showcase their wide applicability. We then discuss topic models for short text data, the research focus of this dissertation. The final parts of the chapter cover a review of parameter estimation techniques, followed by a discussion on common evaluation methods employed in the literature.

2.1.1 Core Models

In this section we describe two core models used for discovering latent topics from text collections: a mixture and an admixture model. The latter is also known as a mixed membership model. The difference between the two models is that in an



Figure 2.1: Graphical Model of MoU

admixture a document can exhibit multiple topics, whereas in a mixture documents are assumed to be generated from only one topic. These basic architectures have laid the foundation for a variety of models over the years (see Sections 2.1.2, 2.1.3 and 2.1.4 for an in-depth review).

The models take as input a collection of documents indexed by $d \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$. Every document d is a collection of words indexed by $n \in \{1, 2, ..., N_d\}$. The words form a vocabulary space indexed by $j \in \{1, 2, ..., V\}$.

2.1.1.1 The Mixture Model

In this section we describe Mixture of Unigrams (MoU) [37], a basic but popular model for latent topic identification. The model is known for its "one topic per document" assumption which makes it a strong baseline in short text data [36, 56].

The graphical model of MoU is presented in Figure 2.1. The generative process is given below:

- For every topic $i \in \{1, 2, ..., K\}$:
 - Draw a word distribution $\beta_i \sim Dir(\eta)$
- Draw global topic proportions $\theta \sim Dir(\alpha)$
- For every document $d \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$:
 - Draw a topic $z_d \sim Cat(\theta)$
 - For every word position $n \in \{1, 2, ..., N_d\}$:
 - * Draw word $w_{d,n} \sim Cat(\beta_{z_d})$



Figure 2.2: Graphical Model of LDA

2.1.1.2 The Admixture Model

In this section we describe Latent Dirichlet Allocation (LDA) [9], a well known topic model where a mixture of topics is responsible for generating the words in a document. LDA can be considered a more general Bayesian extension of the Probabilistic Latent Semantic Analysis (PLSA) model published previously by Hofmann [21]. In PLSA, there is no assumption that guides the generative process of the document specific topic proportions. Blei *et al.* [9] makes the observation that PLSA is unsuitable for prediction tasks on unseen documents and that it is prone to overfitting.

LDA has become the backbone of a wide variety of topic models over the years (see Section 2.1.2). Supporting material can be found in numerous previous studies [8, 16, 44]. Compared to MoU, LDA relaxes the one topic per document assumption.

The graphical model of LDA is presented in Figure 2.2. The generative process is given below:

- For every topic $i \in \{1, 2, ..., K\}$:
 - Draw a word distribution $\beta_i \sim Dir(\eta)$
- For every document $d \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$:
 - Draw document-level topic proportions $\theta_d \sim Dir(\alpha)$
 - For every word position $n \in \{1, 2, ..., N_d\}$:
 - * Draw a topic $z_{d,n} \sim Cat(\theta_d)$
 - * Draw word $w_{d,n} \sim Cat(\beta_{z_{d,n}})$

2.1.2 Topic Models: A Broad Survey of the Literature

The wide applicability of topic models is known and has been reviewed extensively in previous work [5, 6, 8]. Nevertheless, for completeness, we will discuss a selection of papers to show how topic models have been adapted over the years.

The set of assumptions that form the core of an admixutre model like LDA have been adapted in various ways as richer models have been developed. One such example is the Bigram Topic Model proposed by Wallach [51], where documents are not viewed any more as simple bags of words: a bigram language model now guides the generative process of the words given the topics. Another example is the Dynamic Topic Model proposed by Blei & Lafferty [7] where the order of the documents in the collection is taken into account (this is in contrast with LDA where the order does not matter). The model aims to analyze the evolution of topics over time in a large collection of documents. In the generative process, the topics are assumed to evolve from one time slice to another with Gaussian noise. Hierarchical priors shared by the topic proportions of the documents part of the same time slice, evolve as well with Gaussian noise. A further example of modeling outside the standard assumptions of LDA, is to allow the complexity of the data to determine the number of topics in a collection. The Hierarchical Dirichlet Process is one such model example [20, 53].

Researchers have also focused on modeling potential correlations between topics, another limitation of LDA. For example, Blei & Lafferty [4] model document specific topic proportions with the help of a logistic normal distribution. The covariance matrix of the just mentioned distribution is responsible for capturing the correlations. An alternative to this model is the one developed by Li & McCallum [25] where correlations can be captured with an arbitrary directed acyclic graph (e.g.: structures where super topics have correlated sub-topics).

Topic models have also been developed to capture patterns beyond simple word co-occurrences. For example, Wang & McCallum [54] proposed a generative model which learns, in addition to the topics, beta distributions that capture their trends over time. The model assumes that for every word position in a document a topic is drawn, then the word is drawn from that topic, followed by the timestamp of the document. This way, the topics from the documents are influenced by both the words and their timestamps. In a different context, models have also been developed to account for both short range syntactic and long range semantic dependencies [17]. Documents are broken down into function and content words. The function words are captured by a Hidden Markov Model while the content words are handled with the help of a topic model, all in a unified generative model that integrates topics with syntax.

With the increasing popularity of word embeddings researchers have started exploiting them in topic models as well. Nguyen et al. [36] propose two extensions of the popular topic models MoU and LDA. The extensions include in the standard models a latent feature component. The generative process assumes the words are being draw either from the classic topic distributions or from this newly added latent feature component. The component is a categorical distribution where the probability of a word is proportional to the dot product between its embedding and a latent vector representation of its assigned topic. The authors use word embeddings pre-trained on large external corpora. Their findings indicate that the proposed models have increased performance especially on small datasets or datasets that consist of short text documents. Another model which utilizes word embeddings is GaussianLDA [14]. The model replaces the categorical distributions used in LDA to represent the topics with multivariate Gaussian distributions defined over the embedding space. This particular choice of representing the topics is a way of suggesting to the model to assign words that have similar embeddings (i.e.: vector representations; spatial similarity) to the same topic.

2.1.3 Topic Models for Context-Accompanied Text Data

Context has been extensively exploited in topic models for text mining purposes. Zhai *et al.* [58] developed a model for cross collection topical analysis. The model identifies collection-specific topics but also general topics which arise across the datasets. In another contextual model proposed by Mei *et al.* [33] the generative process assumes time and location specific topic proportions which guide the per word topic assignments of the documents. This allows the model to capture topical trends with respect to time and location. Another research effort focuses on defining a more general purpose topic model for contextual text mining [32]. The model assumes context specific topic proportions and context specific views of the topics. The generative process also assumes that multiple contexts can be responsible for selecting the per-word topic assignments. The described models [32, 33, 58] are built as extensions of the popular PLSA [21] baseline.

The author topic models are another class of contextual models developed over the years [29, 30, 40, 41]. Every document is accompanied by an observed set of authors. The model proposed by McCallum [30] assumes that documents are generated from the word distributions that correspond to their authors (i.e.: one author per word; word drawn from author-specific word distribution). Rosen-Zvi et al. [40] proposed another model which takes into account word distributions associated with the topics and topic proportions associated with the authors. For every word, an author is selected, followed by a topic assigned based on the proportions that correspond to the previously selected author; with the topic at hand, the word is drawn afterwards from the appropriate topic distribution. McCallum et al. [29] extends the author topic model of Rosen-Zvi et al. [41] by incorporating recipients. The model is useful for an analysis of email data, for example. It assumes every document contains an observed author and multiple recipients. For every word, a recipient is first selected; then a topic is being drawn according to proportions that correspond to the author of the message and the assigned recipient; finally the word is drawn from the appropriate topic distribution. The described author models [29, 30, 40, 41] are built as extensions of the popular LDA [9] baseline.

2.1.4 Topic Models for Short Text Data

Probabilistic topic models for short text data are the research focus of this dissertation. The poor performance of standard models like Latent Dirichlet Allocation (LDA) on short text items is caused by sparsity [24, 36, 56, 61]. Because of the reduced number of observations per documents (i.e.: the words) the inference of the K-dimensional vectors governing the document-specific topic proportions can be unreliable. In a study on the factors which affect the performance of LDA, Tang et al. [45] conclude that poor performance is expected when the documents are too short, even if you have a large collection.

One popular heuristic employed by researchers to overcome sparsity in short text

data is to utilize various message aggregation strategies before training LDA. Hong & Davison [22] find that aggregating tweets based on author gives better performance over standard LDA. In a later published paper, Mehrotra *et al.* [31] found that aggregating by hashtag brings even more benefits to LDA's performance. Various other researchers who do not study the benefits brought by aggregation to their models but want to avoid sparsity in short text data employ this heuristic [49, 50, 55]. We also want to highlight here TwitterLDA [59], another frequently cited model on aggregation, which combines a mixture model with user-specific topic proportions and a background word distribution. In a more recent publication, Sasaki *et al.* [42] introduced an improved version of TwitterLDA which models user-specific preference for functional vs topical words (as opposed to the global preference from the original paper).

More general purpose topic models built for short text data also exist and can be applied when contextual information is not available. An example is Mixture of Unigrams, which models global topic proportions (unlike document-specific ones like in LDA), and is one of the first successful examples of alleviating sparsity, becoming over the years a standard baseline in this area [26, 36, 56, 61]. Its "one topic per document" assumption seems to fit reasonably well short text items. We use this model ourselves as one of the baselines in the experiments. Another popular model for short text is the Biterm Topic Model (BTM) [56]. The model has a preprocessing step in which all the biterms (i.e.: word pairs) of every document are generated. The biterms become then the input of a Mixture of Unigrams model. BTM alleviates sparsity because, just like MoU, it assumes global topic proportions. Unlike MoU which assumes one topic per document, BTM is more flexible as it assumes one topic per biterm. Since documents contain multiple biterms, they can potentially exhibit more topics. We often use this model to represent the state of the art in an evaluation. BTM has been extended in various ways more recently. For example, in one extention, Yan et al. [57] take into account background words in addition to topical words in a model which aims to capture bursty topics from microblogs. In another example, Chen et al. [13] introduce Twitter-BTM, which assumes userspecific topic proportions and models as well functional words in addition to the topic

distributions. These assumptions though, make the Twitter-BTM model applicable to data where the required contextual information is available.

Going back to general purpose topic models for short text data, the Dual-Sparse Topic Model of Lin *et al.* [26] is a great example of explicitly addressing sparsity. The model keeps the usual assumptions of an admixture model, but with a twist: "Spike and Slab" priors are used to control the sparsity that may arise in both the document specific topic proportions and in the word distributions associated with the topics (hence the dual-sparse terminology). The mathematics involve constructing the Dirichlet distributions that model the just mentioned aspects in a way which allows to control which components can receive probability mass. This is achieved with the help of random Bernoulli indicators. Under this structure, the model can enforce only a few words and topics to end up with most of the mass (the others having negligible quantities). In a recent publication, Zuo et al. [61] propose a new general purpose topic model for short text (Pseudo-document Topic Model) which alleviates sparsity by modeling topic proportions specific to latent clusters of documents. In the generative process, for every short document, you first select a cluster and then its words are being generated according to the cluster's topic proportions. The model reduces sparsity since the topic proportions are now associated with each cluster of documents instead of having one such vector for every short text item. In the same paper, Zuo et al. [61] introduce another model which applies a "Spike and Slab" prior to the cluster-specific topic proportions of PTM for an explicit control of sparsity. Another model of latent document aggregation is the one proposed by Quan et al. [39], but there are a few differences compared to PTM. The model has a generative process which can be described as a two part mechanism: one in which large latent documents are generated from an admixture model; and a second part in which every observed short document is assumed to be generated from a latent large document.

There are also models developed to capture richer patterns that go beyond simple word co-occurrences. One such model is the Latent Event Model (LEM) proposed by Zhou *et al.* [60]. LEM models an event with multiple distributions accounting for non-location named entities, locations, time, and other descriptive words. To alleviate sparsity, the model, similar to MoU, assumes global event proportions and one event per document. Similar models have been published for multi-faceted topic discovery in Twitter [49, 50] - in this work though the authors assume document specific topic proportions and alleviate sparsity by enhancing the short documents with external information gathered from the URLs inside the posts. They also take into consideration internal information and enhance the documents with high frequency words that appear across the collection in the company of the same hashtags [50]. Li et al. [24] published a new model recently which takes into account the available structure of conversations in microblogs. They first use a leader detection model to classify documents into leaders and followers. This information is used as prior knowledge to a probabilistic topic model. The generative process of the model assumes, for each message, first deciding whether it is a leader or a follower (informed by the just described prior information). If the message is a leader, a topic is drawn according to the proportions that correspond to leaders; otherwise, a topic is drawn according to proportions that correspond to the topic of the follower's leader. This separation of topic proportions indicates that leaders generate new topics and followers generate correlations between these topics. With a topic assigned to a message, its words are now generated either from a background word distribution or from the appropriate topic distribution. Leaders and followers also have their own preference for functional vs topical words. Exploiting the structure of the conversations brings improvements over other competing models (e.g.: [39, 56]) in terms of topic coherence.

2.2 Inference in Topic Models

The posterior of a topic model is often intractable for exact inference. Both deterministic and non-deterministic methods can be followed to obtain a posterior approximation.

Non-deterministic approaches include sampling techniques such as those from the Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) family. Gibbs sampling (e.g.: standard, blocked, collapsed) is one type of MCMC which is highly utilized in related work [36, 56]. A simple Gibbs Sampler involves getting samples in an iterative procedure from the complete conditionals. The samples are then used to compute estimates of interest (e.g.: parameter means). The first few samples are usually discarded in order to move away from the random initialization to an area of high posterior density (the burn-in period). Getting representative samples is nevertheless an open problem; it is also not straightforward to assess the convergence of MCMC methods [23].

Because of these problems, in recent years, a number of researchers [7, 9, 10, 19, 20] have adopted Variational Inference, a deterministic approach to posterior approximation. This is also the parameter estimation technique employed in this dissertation. The following subsections will detail the necessary theory.

We also note here collapsed variational inference [3, 43, 46, 47]. The method is deterministic but inspired by Collapsed Gibbs Sampling - it provides a tighter bound (i.e.: the variational objective function) when compared to standard variational inference by marginalizing out some of the parameters.

2.2.1 Variational Inference

Variational Inference is a deterministic approach to posterior approximation. Let \mathcal{M} be a model of some data D with parameters θ . We are going to approximate the intractable posterior $p(\theta|D)$ with a variational distribution $q(\theta)$ such that the Kullback-Leibler (KL) divergence between the two distributions is minimized.

It can be easily proved that minimizing the KL divergence between q and p is the same as maximizing the evidence lower bound (ELBO) \mathcal{L} (see Equation 2.1).

$$D_{KL}(q(\theta)||p(\theta|D)) = E_q[\log q(\theta)] - E_q[\log p(\theta|D)]$$

= $E_q[\log q(\theta)] - E_q[\log p(D,\theta)] + E_q[\log p(D)]$ (2.1)
= $-\mathcal{L} + E_q[\log p(D)]$

For clarity, we express below the variational objective function:

$$\mathcal{L} = E_q[\log p(D,\theta)] - E_q[\log q(\theta)]$$
(2.2)

We need a variational distribution $q(\theta)$ that is tractable under expectations. In this work, we follow the common practice [9, 10, 20], and choose q to be in the meanfield variational family where each hidden variable is independent and governed by its own parameter. We review below (i.e.: Sections 2.2.1.1 and 2.2.1.2) two approaches to deriving the update formulas of the variational parameters.

2.2.1.1 Standard Variational Inference

The goal in variational inference is to maximize the objective function (i.e.: the ELBO from Equation (2.2)). The steps involved are somewhat standard for such tasks:

- 1. Fully expand the ELBO according to the model specification (i.e.: the appropriate full joint and variational distributions). To ease the mathematics, we represent the Dirichlet distributions in their exponential family form. It is also worth knowing that the first derivative of the log normalizer is equal to the expected value of the sufficient statistics [9].
- 2. With the ELBO fully expanded, the next step is to compute the update formulas of the variational parameters. The mathematics involve taking partial derivatives with respect to each parameter in question and solving the resulting equations. Note that in some cases we are dealing with constrained maximizations (e.g.: the parameters of categorical distributions) which require the usage of Lagrange multipliers.
- With the update formulas of the variational parameters at hand, the algorithm is straightforward. The parameters are updated iteratively until the lower bound converges.
- 4. Monitoring the value of the ELBO is useful for assessing algorithm termination, but also for sanity checks (e.g.: the ELBO is guaranteed to increase with every iteration).

We use standard variational inference in Chapter 5. A full proof can be found in the supplemental material in Appendix C.

2.2.1.2 Variational Inference with Exponential Families

The derivations involved in obtaining the update formulas for the variational parameters can be reduced if the model in question satisfies some properties. Concretely, the model needs to have the complete conditionals in the exponential family. If this necessary condition is satisfied, getting the update formulas of the variational parameters is more straightforward because it has been proved that the natural parameters of the variational distributions are equal to the expected value of the natural parameters of the corresponding complete conditionals [20].

The steps involved can be summarized as follows:

- 1. Derive the complete conditional of every latent variable given the other latent variables and the observations. Show these are in the exponential family.
- 2. Define the variational distributions to have the same form as the corresponding complete conditionals.
- 3. Derive the update formulas of the variational parameters using the fact that the natural parameters of the variational distributions are equal to the expected value of the natural parameters of the corresponding complete conditionals.
- 4. With the update formulas of the variational parameters at hand, the algorithm is straightforward. The parameters are updated iteratively until convergence.
- 5. Monitoring the value of the ELBO is useful for assessing algorithm termination, but also for sanity checks (e.g.: the ELBO is guaranteed to increase with every iteration).

We make use of variational inference for exponential families in Chapters 3 and 4. Full proofs can be found in the supplemental material in Appendices A and B.

We note that further theory is available for this class of models. For example, Hoffman *et al.* [20] showed how to apply stochastic optimization to the variational objective function, allowing high dimensional Bayesian models to be applied at scale. Concretly, the models must have, besides complete conditionals in the exponential family, local and global parameters. In traditional batch variational inference, the global parameters receive mass from all the local parameters (e.g.: in LDA, the "global" topics are updated using the sufficient statistics from all the "local" documents). In stochastic variational inference though, the global parameters are updated using batches of randomly selected local parameters. This way, in order to improve once the global parameters you do not have to do a full data pass. The stochastic optimization also facilitates online learning for topic models [19].

2.3 Evaluating Topic Models

The methods used to evaluate topic models differ greatly from paper to paper. Nevertheless, patterns in the choices of evaluation tasks do arise across the literature. This section reviews the tasks most utilized by researchers.

In this dissertation we evaluate the models using Topic Coherence, Document Clustering and Document Classification. These tasks enjoy wide popularity in the literature [9, 22, 25, 26, 31, 35, 56]. We dedicate a subsection for each mentioned task where we discuss in more detail the metrics used to assess it.

Besides the above mentioned methods we note there are also other ways to evaluate topic models. For example, to asses model fitness some researchers have utilized held-out perplexity [2, 9, 19]. The idea is to split the collection into train and test datasets, infer the parameters using the training data, and compute perplexity on the test set. However, computing the perplexity is intractable for topic models (because of the test set probability). To overcome this, people make use of, for example, Jensen's inequality to get a lower bound; the bound is then used as a proxy to perplexity [19]. In other cases, like in the work of Hoffman *et al.* [20], the researchers use for assessing the fitness of the model a predictive distribution in which they avoid computing such bounds. Chang *et al.* [12] found though that such methods do not correlate well with human judgment on topic interpretability. Further assessments of evaluating topic models based on the probability of held-out documents can be found in the work of Wallach *et al.* [52].

2.3.1 Topic Coherence Evaluation

One task we evaluate the models on is Topic Coherence, a measure of topic quality largely utilized in the topic models community [24, 26, 31, 56]. Newman *et al.* [35] and Minno *et al.* [34] proposed two popular metrics utilized in the literature to measure coherence. Both metrics aim to capture the human interpretability of topics in an automatic fashion (i.e.: no human annotators). The former relies on an external corpora to compute the scores and it less correlated than the latter with human judgments [34]. The latter is also superior to word intrusion [34], another known technique to detect semantically coherent topics [12].

For the reasons explained above, we choose to utilize the topic coherence metric proposed by Mimno *et al.* [34]. Equation (2.3) lists the formula for computing the coherence score of a topic *i*, where $W_i = \{w_{i,1}, w_{i,2}, ..., w_{i,X}\}$ is a collection of the X most probable words of that topic (in descending order) and D() is a function which returns the number of documents in which the words taken as argument appear.

$$C(i, W_i) = \sum_{x=2}^{X} \sum_{y=1}^{x-1} \log \frac{D(w_{i,x}, w_{i,y}) + 1}{D(w_{i,y})}$$
(2.3)

In this dissertation, for the models we evaluate, we report the average coherence score of the inferred topics $\frac{1}{K} \sum_{i=1}^{K} C(i, W_i)$. In terms of selecting the number of top words, we vary $X \in \{5, 10, 20\}$ such that the reported coherence scores capture different granularities (i.e.: from a very focused set of words to a more relaxed one). The models which obtain bigger scores are assumed to have more semantically coherent topics.

2.3.2 Document Clustering Evaluation

Document clustering is another form of evaluation for topic models frequently used in the literature [22, 31, 36, 49, 50, 56]. To form the clusters, after the inference procedure, one groups together the documents that have the same topic as the most probable topic in their vector of topic proportions. For example, for a topic model that produces K topics, there are K topic-clusters that can be formed. Say every document has its own topic proportions θ_d . We assign a document d to the topiccluster *i*, when *i* is the index of $\max_{i \in 1,2,\dots,K} \theta_{d,i}$.

Given a collection of topic-clusters $\Omega = \{\omega_1, \omega_2, ..., \omega_K\}$, where K is the number of topics produced by a model, and a collection of class-clusters $C = \{c_1, c_2, ..., c_Z\}$, where Z is the number of ground truth classes and by a class-cluster we understand a group of all the documents which have the same class label, we measure document clustering using standard metrics such as Purity, Normalized Mutual Information and Adjusted Rand Index [28]. These metrics produce scores in the [0, 1] interval, where a higher value means a better performance.

Equation (2.4) lists the formula used to compute *purity*. The idea is to count for each cluster the number of documents in the majority class; then simply divide by the total number of documents M to get a measure of how *pure* the clusters are.

$$Purity(\Omega, C) = \frac{1}{M} \sum_{i=1}^{K} \max_{j} |\omega_i \cap c_j|$$
(2.4)

The Normalized Mutual Information metric from Equation (2.5) measures the amount of information we obtain about the classes given the clusters and vice-versa, normalized by the entropies of the clusters and classes. The normalization penalizes models which produce a large number of clusters.

$$\operatorname{NMI}(\Omega, \mathbf{C}) = \frac{\operatorname{I}(\Omega, \mathbf{C})}{\frac{\operatorname{H}(\Omega) + \operatorname{H}(\mathbf{C})}{2}}$$
$$\operatorname{I}(\Omega, \mathbf{C}) = \sum_{i,j}^{K,Z} \frac{|\omega_i \cap c_j|}{M} \log \frac{M|\omega_i \cap c_j|}{|\omega_i||c_j|}$$
$$\operatorname{H}(\Omega) = -\sum_{i=1}^{K} \frac{|\omega_i|}{M} \log \frac{|\omega_i|}{M}$$
$$\operatorname{H}(\mathbf{C}) = -\sum_{j=1}^{Z} \frac{|c_j|}{M} \log \frac{|c_j|}{M}$$
(2.5)

The Adjusted Rand Index from Equation (2.6), as its name suggests, is a version of Rand Index whose expected value is 0 (i.e.: corrected for chance). The Rand Index measures clustering in terms of the accuracy of pair-wise decisions - a decision is considered correct if two documents with the same class label are in the same cluster or if two documents with distinct class labels are in distinct clusters.

$$\operatorname{ARI}(\Omega, \mathcal{C}) = \frac{\sum_{i,j}^{K,Z} {\binom{|\omega_i \cap c_j|}{2}} - \left[\sum_{i=1}^{K} {\binom{|\omega_i|}{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{Z} {\binom{|c_j|}{2}}\right] / {\binom{M}{2}}}{\frac{1}{2} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{K} {\binom{|\omega_i|}{2}} + \sum_{j=1}^{Z} {\binom{|c_j|}{2}}\right] - \left[\sum_{i=1}^{K} {\binom{|\omega_i|}{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{Z} {\binom{|c_j|}{2}}\right] / {\binom{M}{2}}$$
(2.6)

2.3.3 Document Classification Evaluation

Document classification is another extrinsic evaluation task highly utilized in the topic models community. The idea is to use the document-specific topic proportions as the features of the corresponding documents in a classification task. We follow a similar procedure to other researchers [56] and use the Liblinear library [15] from the Weka software [18] with 5-fold cross-validation and the default parameters. We evaluate the document classification performance of the models using Accuracy [28], a metric preferred in many papers from the topic models literature [9, 13, 26, 39, 56].

Let $\{1, 2, ..., M\}$ be a collection of documents where every document d has a true class c_d and a class predicted by the classification algorithm p_d . Accuracy - Equation (2.7) - is defined as the proportion of correct predictions.

Accuracy =
$$\frac{1}{M} \sum_{d=1}^{M} I(c_d = p_d)$$
 (2.7)

Chapter 3

Topic Models for Single-Context Short Text Data

In short text data topic models are known to suffer from sparsity. The problem is caused by a reduced number of observations available for a reliable inference (i.e.: the words in a document). A popular heuristic utilized to overcome this problem is to perform before training some form of document aggregation by context (e.g.: author, hashtag). The aggregation can alleviate sparsity as the models will be trained on documents with more observations which will also have the potential of being topically related. For example, the publications written by an author will be covering, in most cases, a few if not only one topic (depending on granularity). In this chapter we model explicitly the implicit assumptions of the document aggregation heuristic and apply it to two standard model architectures: a mixture and an admixture. We evaluate the enhanced models in different text environments (i.e.: short and medium) which have different opportunities for aggregation (i.e.: a smaller vs. a bigger number of documents per context). The evaluation targets multiple tasks from topic coherence to document clustering and document classification. Our findings indicate that an admixture model benefits more from aggregation compared to a mixture which rarely improves, and that the state of the art in short text data can be surpassed as long as every context contains a small number of documents.

3.1 Motivation

We know from previous work that in a short text environment, the "one topic per document" assumption of Mixture of Unigrams (MoU) proves to be a good fit to the data, while Latent Dirichlet Allocation (LDA) suffers strongly from sparsity [36, 56]. MoU models global topic proportions whose inference rely on the topics assigned to the documents while LDA assumes document-level topic proportions whose sufficient statistics are the per-word topic assignments. Because short text data items are characterized by a small number of words, the inference of the K-dimensional vector of LDA governing the per-document topic proportions is less reliable (small number of observations).

More than often short text data is accompanied by contextual information such as the date and time of the headline of a news article, the location of a micro-post or the author of the title of a published paper. One popular heuristic employed by researchers to overcome sparsity in short text data is to utilize various message aggregation strategies before training LDA. Hong & Davison [22] find that aggregating tweets based on author gives better performance over standard LDA. In a later paper, Mehrotra *et al.* [31] concludes that aggregating by hashtag brings even more benefits to LDA's performance. These aggregation strategies have also been utilized outside LDA by various researchers who want to avoid sparsity when training their own models on short text data [49, 50, 55].

Motivated by the initial success of document aggregation, in this chapter, we formalize the implicit assumptions the heuristic brings to a topic model and apply it to two standard model architectures: a mixture and an admixture. Concretely, we use context-dependent topic proportions to control the assignment of topics into documents. Documents which share the same context will have their topics drawn according to the same vector of topic proportions. We then extend both LDA (i.e.: the admixture) and MoU (i.e.: the mixture) to accommodate context accompanied text data.

By modelling the implicit assumptions of document aggregation we introduce new building blocks for future and more complex developments. The evaluation aims to assess whether an admixture model benefits more from aggregation than a mixture model, and how these contextual extensions compare with the state of the art in different text environments (from very short to medium text) and with different amounts of data per context (from a smaller to a bigger opportunity for aggregation). The evaluation targets multiple tasks such as topic coherence, document clustering and document classification.

We want to highlight here TwitterLDA [59] which combines a mixture model with user-specific topic proportions and a background word distribution. TwitterLDA, without the distribution for functional words, becomes an instance of one the models we introduce in this chapter. We argue though, in TwitterLDA, it is unclear whether the performance comes from the fact that a mixture model works good in aggregated short text items or because it models the separation of functional words from content words (the latter point was also made by Vosecky *et al.* [50]). There is also no comparison with the state of the art. In the experiments from this chapter we clearly show that a mixture model trained on aggregated documents does not improve much over its standard version (i.e.: MoU). We can conclude though the reported performance of TwitterLDA is most likely caused by modeling background words in addition to the topic distributions.

We also want to mention that a wide range of topic models has been developed for context accompanied text data. We review a couple of such models in Chapter 2.1.3. These context models vary, but have in common, as the models proposed in this chapter, context-specific topic proportions. The overall difference is that our models have a simpler structure, being built for documents with a single context. Hence, we do not model document-specific preference over contexts as the multi-context topic models do. The purpose behind the models is also distinct: where the multi-context models where defined to capture spatial or temporal topical patterns or to take into account the preferences of the authors for certain topics, our models were defined to formalize the aggregation heuristic utilized in short text data to alleviate sparsity, and to assess whether an admixture benefits more from aggregation compared to a mixture. A further distinction regards the choice of inference. The parameters of the models reviewed in Chapter 2.1.3 are estimated using either EM or Gibbs



Figure 3.1: Graphical Model of SC-LDA

sampling. In the inference section, we show the models proposed in this chapter are part of a special class of models whose complete conditionals are in the exponential family - this allows both batch and stochastic variational inference to be employed [20], flexibility which can be exploited in both offline and online settings.

3.2 Model Specification

In this section we model explicitly the implicit assumptions of the document aggregation heuristic commonly used to alleviate the sparsity of topic models in short text data. We extend both LDA and MoU to accommodate context accompanied text data. We chose these two models for their set of assumptions (mixture vs. admixture), which make them the standard building blocks for most topic model developments in the literature (see Chapter 2 for a review). We will refer in our discussions to the enhanced models as SC-LDA and SC-MoU.

The models take as input a collection of documents indexed by $d \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$. Every document d is a collection of words indexed by $n \in \{1, 2, ..., N_d\}$. Every document d is also accompanied by a context c_d . Both models have context-dependent topic proportions which control the assignment of topics into documents. The topic assignments are model-specific: one topic per word for SC-LDA, and one topic per document for SC-MoU.

3.2.1 The SC-LDA Model

The graphical model of SC-LDA is presented in Figure 3.1. The generative process is given below:

- For every topic $i \in \{1, 2, ..., K\}$:
 - Draw a word distribution $\beta_i \sim Dir(\eta)$
- For every context $x \in \{1, 2, ..., C\}$:
 - Draw per-context topic proportions $\theta_x \sim Dir(\alpha)$
- For every document $d \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$:
 - For every word position $n \in \{1, 2, ..., N_d\}$:
 - * Draw a topic $z_{d,n} \sim Cat(\theta_{c_d})$
 - * Draw word $w_{d,n} \sim Cat(\beta_{z_{d,n}})$

SC-LDA extends LDA by accommodating contextual information. LDA assumes vectors of document specific topic proportions and one topic per word drawn according to the document level proportions. By defining the context of every document with a unique label the SC-LDA model will degenerate into LDA.

3.2.2 The SC-MoU Model

The graphical model of SC-MoU is presented in Figure 3.2. The generative process is given below:

- For every topic $i \in \{1, 2, ..., K\}$:
 - Draw a word distribution $\beta_i \sim Dir(\eta)$
- For every context $x \in \{1, 2, ..., C\}$:
 - Draw per-context topic proportions $\theta_x \sim Dir(\alpha)$
- For every document $d \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$:
 - Draw a topic $z_d \sim Cat(\theta_{c_d})$
 - For every word position $n \in \{1, 2, ..., N_d\}$:
 - * Draw word $w_{d,n} \sim Cat(\beta_{z_d})$

SC-MoU extends MoU by accommodating contextual information. MoU assumes a vector of global topic proportions and one topic per document drawn according to the global proportions. By defining the context of every document to be the same (call it "global"), the SC-MoU model will degenerate into MoU.



Figure 3.2: Graphical Model of SC-MoU

3.3 Model Inference

To infer the latent parameters of the introduced models, we use the techniques of variational inference for models whose complete conditionals are in the exponential family. Please consult Chapter 2.2.1 for a review. To keep things focused, we give here only an overview of the steps and derivations involved in the inference process - complementing material can be found in Appendix A.

3.3.1 Parameter Inference for SC-LDA

In this section we start by listing the complete conditional of every latent variable of the model given the other latent variables and the observations. Making the observation that each such complete conditional is in the exponential family, we further define the corresponding variational distributions to have the same functional form.

In Equation (3.1) we compute the complete conditional associated with the percontext topic proportions.

$$p(\theta_x|\theta_{-}, z, \beta, w) = Dir(a), a_i = \alpha_i + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(c_d = x)I(z_{d,n} = i)$$
(3.1)

Because the complete conditional of the per-context topic proportions is a Dirichlet, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Dirichlet as well $q(\theta_x|\gamma_x) = Dir(\gamma_x).$

In Equation (3.2) we compute the complete conditional associated with the topics.

$$p(\beta_i|\beta_-, z, \theta, w) = Dir(b), b_j = \eta_j + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(w_{d,n} = j)I(z_{d,n} = i)$$
(3.2)

Because the complete conditional of a topic is a Dirichlet, the corresponding



Figure 3.3: The graphical model of the variational distribution used to approximate the posterior of SC-LDA

variational distribution is going to be a Dirichlet as well $q(\beta_i|\lambda_i) = Dir(\lambda_i)$.

In Equation (3.3) we compute the complete conditional associated with the per word topic assignments.

$$p(z_{d,n} = i | z_{-}, \theta, \beta, w) \propto \exp\{\log \theta_{c_d, i} + \log \beta_{i, w_{d,n}}\}$$

$$(3.3)$$

Because the complete conditional of the per-word topic assignment is a Categorical, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Categorical as well $q(z_{d,n}|\phi_{d,n}) = Cat(\phi_{d,n}).$

We have now fully specified the form of the variational distribution used to approximate the posterior of SC-LDA - Figure 3.3 presents its graphical model. Having also specified the complete conditionals, we can derive next the update formulas of the variational parameters. The derivations are made based on the observation that the natural parameters of the variational distributions are equal to the expected value of the natural parameters of the corresponding complete conditionals.

In Equation (3.4) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the topics.

$$\lambda_{i,j} = \eta_j + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(w_{d,n} = j)\phi_{d,n,i}$$
(3.4)

In Equation (3.5) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter

associated with the per-context topic proportions.

$$\gamma_{x,i} = \alpha_i + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(c_d = x)\phi_{d,n,i}$$
 (3.5)

In Equation (3.6) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the per-word topic assignments.

$$\phi_{d,n,i} \propto \exp\{\sum_{x=1}^{C} I(c_d = x)(\Psi(\gamma_{x,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{x,0})) + \sum_{j=1}^{V} I(w_{d,n} = j)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))\}$$
(3.6)

With the update formulas of the variational parameters at hand, the algorithm is straightforward. The variational parameters are updated iteratively until convergence. This type of algorithm is known in the literature as Coordinate Ascent Mean-Field Variational Inference (CAVI) [10]. Algorithm 1 summarizes one iteration of CAVI.

Algorithm 1 One iteration of Mean Field Variational Inference for SC-LDA.
1: for $d = 1$ to M do
2: for $n = 1$ to N_d do
3: $\mathbf{for} i = 1 \text{ to } K \mathbf{do}$
4: Update $\phi_{d,n,i}$ using Equation (3.6)
5: end for
6: Normalize $\phi_{d,n,*}$ to sum to 1
7: end for
8: end for
9: for $x = 1$ to C do
10: for $i = 1$ to K do
11: Update $\gamma_{x,i}$ using Equation (3.5)
12: end for
13: end for
14: for $i = 1$ to K do
15: for $j = 1$ to V do
16: Update $\lambda_{i,j}$ using Equation (3.4)
17: end for
18: end for

3.3.2 Parameter Inference for SC-MoU

The inference steps are similar to the ones taken in Section 3.3.1 for SC-LDA. Since the vector of per-context topic proportions is a particularity for both SC-LDA and



Figure 3.4: The graphical model of the variational distribution used to approximate the posterior of SC-MoU

SC-MoU, the associated complete conditional (also its corresponding variational distribution) is the same as in Equation (3.1).

In Equation (3.7) we compute the complete conditional associated with the topics.

$$p(\beta_i|\beta_-, z, \theta, w) = Dir(b), b_j = \eta_j + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(w_{d,n} = j)I(z_d = i)$$
(3.7)

Because the complete conditional of a topic is a Dirichlet, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Dirichlet as well $q(\beta_i|\lambda_i) = Dir(\lambda_i)$.

In Equation (3.8) we compute the complete conditional associated with the perdocument topic assignments.

$$p(z_d = i | z_-, \theta, \beta, w) \propto \exp\{\log \theta_{c_d, i} + \sum_{n=1}^{N_d} \log \beta_{i, w_{d, n}}\}$$
 (3.8)

Because the complete conditional of the per-document topic assignment is a Categorical, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Categorical as well $q(z_d | \phi_d) = Cat(\phi_d)$.

Figure 3.4 presents the graphical model of the variational distribution used to approximate the posterior of SC-MoU.

Having computed the complete conditionals and having defined the form of the corresponding variational distributions, we can now derive the update formulas of the variational parameters.

In Equation (3.9) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter

associated with the topics.

$$\lambda_{i,j} = \eta_j + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(w_{d,n} = j)\phi_{d,i}$$
(3.9)

In Equation (3.10) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the context topic proportions.

$$\gamma_{x,i} = \alpha_i + \sum_{d=1}^M I(c_d = x)\phi_{d,i}$$
 (3.10)

In Equation (3.11) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the per-document topic assignments.

$$\phi_{d,i} \propto \exp\{\sum_{x=1}^{C} I(c_d = x)(\Psi(\gamma_{x,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{x,0})) + \sum_{n,j}^{N_d,V} I(w_{d,n} = j)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))\}$$
(3.11)

With the update formulas of the variational parameters at hand, the algorithm used for inference is similar to the one already introduced in Algorithm 1.

3.3.3 Document-level Topic Proportions

The introduced topic models do not model directly document-level topic proportions. In fact, we specifically avoid doing that in order to alleviate sparsity. Having a topical representation of a document is nevertheless useful for both summarizing the document and as a feature in many tasks such as clustering and classification.

We compute the document-level topic proportions of the models using the available sufficient statistics: the per-word topic assignments in case of SC-LDA - Equation (3.12) - and the per-document topic assignments for SC-MoU - Equation (3.13).

$$p(topic = i|d) \propto \alpha_i + \sum_{n=1}^{N_d} \phi_{d,n,i}$$
(3.12)

$$p(topic = i|d) \propto \alpha_i + \phi_{d,i} \tag{3.13}$$

The topical representation of the documents is somewhat ill-defined in work

which uses the document-aggregation heuristic applied to LDA - for simplicity, researchers use the topic proportions associated with the macro-document to represent the documents part of it [22, 31]. Translated into the formalism included in this chapter, it would mean documents part of the same context have the same topical representation. One can clearly understand why this is not the case. The topic proportions of a context give an overall information for <u>all</u> the documents part of it - so individual documents should have their own topical representation (which can happen to be different).

3.4 Evaluation

We evaluate the model on four labeled datasets of scientific publications. The datasets cover multiple text environments (short and medium) and have different opportunities for aggregation (a smaller vs. a larger number of documents per contexts). The evaluation targets multiple tasks such as topic coherence, document clustering and document classification. Please consult Chapter 2.3 for details about the metrics utilized to assess these tasks.

The following models are used in the evaluation for comparison:

- Latent Dirichlet Allocation (LDA) This baseline corresponds to the SC-LDA model where every document has its own context. We use the prior values recommended in previous work [36, 56] ($\alpha = 0.1$; $\eta = 0.01$). For a review of this model please consult Chapter 2.1.1.2.
- SC-LDA-FA This is the SC-LDA model with first author as context. Common values for sparse priors are used ($\alpha = 0.1$; $\eta = 0.01$).
- Mixture of Unigrams (MoU) This baseline corresponds to the SC-MoU model where all documents share the same context. We use the prior values recommended in previous work [56] (α = 50/K; η = 0.01). For a review of this model please consult Chapter 2.1.1.1.
- SC-MoU-FA This is the SC-MoU model with first author as context. Common values for sparse priors are used ($\alpha = 0.1$; $\eta = 0.01$).

Biterm Topic Model (BTM) This model proposed by Yan et al. [56] has been selected to represent the state of the art in short text data. The model has a preprocessing step in which all the biterms (i.e.: word pairs) of every document are generated. Then the biterms become the input of a Mixture of Unigrams model (i.e.: global topic proportions and one topic per biterm). For a fair comparison, we reimplemented the model with Variational Inference (original implementation is done using Gibbs Sampling). We use the same priors as in the original paper (α = 50/K; η = 0.01).

The models are initialized according to standard practices from the literature. Blei & Lafferty [8] find that a good way to initialize the topics is to use a random sample of N documents from the corpus and compute a smoothed word distribution over the vocabulary space from the word counts of the random sample. We choose N to be 10.

We perform the evaluation with 3 levels of K (i.e.: the number of topics): K = Z, K = 2Z and K = 3Z, where Z is the number of ground truth classes of a dataset. For each setting of a model we do 10 runs and report the result that has the maximum ELBO - the bigger the ELBO the closer the variational approximation is to the true posterior.

3.4.1 Dataset Selection

We use in the evaluation four datasets of scientific publications downloaded from arXiv (www.arxiv.org), a well known digital library. Two of the datasets contain titles of publications and represent the short text environment; while the other two contain the abstracts from almost (due to preprocessing) the same set of publications - the medium text environment. For both the short and medium text environments we have one dataset with a small number of documents per context (average of 8) and another with a larger number (average of 28). We refer to the created datasets as "Short Text Small Contexts", "Short Text Larger Contexts", "Medium Text Small Contexts" and "Medium Text Larger Contexts". The datasets were created to facilitate an assessment of how different opportunities for aggregation affect the

			Unione	A 11	A wana ma waanda
Dataset	Classes	Documents	Unique	All	Average words
Dataset	Classes	Documents	words	words	per document
Short Text	10	20000	6606	120702	C 09C
Small Contexts	10	20000	0090	139702	0.980
Short Text	10	14597	0000	09519	6 249
Larger Contexts	10	14087	2000	92018	0.342
Medium Text	10	20005	11001	1462072	72 190
Small Contexts	10	20005	11991	1403973	73.180
Medium Text	10	16501	5976	1074004	65 002
Larger Contexts	10	10901	5210	1074094	09.099

Table 3.1: Statistics for the datasets used in the evaluation

performance of the models in different text environments.

To avoid any bias we selected the publications from a single big subject (i.e.: physics). The type of bias we wanted to avoid is to have mixed subjects (e.g.: physics + biology + literature) where it is almost guaranteed that authors would not cross-publish. This type of bias arises especially in papers that target tweets, where ground truth labels are usually not available. For example, in the work of Mehrotra et al. [31], the input collections are constructed by making queries to a large sample of tweets, and labeling the documents with the query terms that retrieved them (e.g.: "music", "food", "sport"). Another relevant example is the work of Hong & Davison [22], where the researchers use the categories assigned to the users as the ground truth labels for their messages. They explicitly specify there is no overlap between the categories. We gave these two specific examples because they are the ones in which various document aggregation techniques are evaluated for LDA and were part of the motivation behind this chapter. When the authors do not cross-publish, the contexts become clear ground truth discriminators. Datasets in which contexts contain documents from more than one ground truth class should increase the difficulty of the evaluation.

Another reason for selecting this type of data (i.e.: titles and abstracts of scientific publications) is the reduced noise; so any topic model which will be trained on it will be able to bring out the performance of its generative process without being overloaded by high frequency, non-topical words (as it happens for example in a dataset of tweets).

3.	TOPIC	MODELS	FOR	SINGLE-0	CONTEXT	SHORT	TEXT	DATA
----	-------	--------	-----	----------	---------	-------	------	------

Dataset	First Authors	Average documents per first author
Short Text	9477	8.071
Small Contexts	2411	8.074
Short Text	502	27 801
Larger Contexts	525	21.091
Medium Text	2462	0 196
Small Contexts	2402	0.120
Medium Text	EQE	28 207
Larger Contexts	909	20.201

Table 3.2: First Author statistics for the datasets

Table 3.1 summarizes useful dataset statistics after preprocessing (basic stop and rare word removal). The datasets constructed to represent the short text environments have an average of 7 words per document, while the ones for medium text have 65 and 73, respectively. Another useful statistic is that there are 10 ground truth classes. The labels correspond to different areas from physics (e.g.: "Condensed Matter", "Nuclear Theory"). In Table 3.2 one can find the statistics associated with the "First Author" context for every dataset. In the datasets with small contexts (characterized by an average of 8 documents) there is a much larger number of first authors (2400+ vs. 500+) compared to the larger contexts datasets (characterized by an average of 28 documents). In Figure 3.6 we show how many authors published in one or more ground truth categories. We can see that the larger context datasets enjoy a larger spread. This can be explained by the fact that these datasets have an increased number of documents per context (hence a bigger opportunity to cross-publish). For completeness, Figure 3.5 shows the distribution of the number of documents per first authors for every dataset.

We will now give some details which facilitate the replicability of the experimental setup. First, we list all the ground truth categories in Table 3.3. The arXiv contains 13 categories from physics, but 3 of them had a small number of documents and ended up being discarded. As a general rule, we considered only the documents which belong to a single category. In order to build the datasets with small contexts, we chose only those documents which belong to authors that have between 5 and 20 publications (see the distributions in the first column of Figure 3.5). Because the size of the resulted datasets was too large for batch variational inference, we



(c) "Medium Text Small Contexts" dataset (d) "Medium Text Larger Contexts" dataset

Figure 3.5: The distribution of the number of documents per first authors. The vertical axis shows the number of authors; the horizontal axis lists intervals of numbers of documents.

3. TOPIC MODELS FOR SINGLE-CONTEXT SHORT TEXT DATA

Unique arXiv identifier	Description
physics:gr-qc	General Relativity and Quantum Cosmology
physics:astro-ph	Astrophysics
physics:quant-ph	Quantum Physics
physics:hep-lat	High Energy Physics - Lattice
physics:cond-mat	Condensed Matter
physics:nucl-th	Nuclear Theory
physics:nlin	Nonlinear Sciences
physics:hep-th	High Energy Physics - Theory
physics:hep-ph	High Energy Physics - Phenomenology
physics:physics	Physics (other)

Table 3.3: The arXiv categories utilized to construct the datasets

sampled randomly approximately 20,000 documents. To build the datasets with larger contexts, we considered only the documents which belong to authors that have more than 20 publications (see the distributions in the second column of Figure 3.5). Since the resulting datasets had reasonable sizes, we kept them as they were. In terms of preprocessing, we removed stop words, words with a length smaller than 3, words with a global frequency smaller than 5 for the title datasets and smaller than 20 for the abstract datasets. We also discarded the documents which had less than 3 words inside and those which belong to authors with ambiguous names (e.g.: only letters given; we discarded authors that had the surname or the forenames smaller than 3 letters).



(c) "Medium Text Small Contexts" dataset (d) "Medium Text Larger Contexts" dataset

Figure 3.6: The number of first authors (vertical axis) that published documents in one or more ground truth classes (horizontal axis).

3	TOPIC	MODELS	FOR	SINCLE	CONTEXT	SHORT	TEXT	ПАТА
э.	TOFIC	MODELS	rUn	SINGLE-	CONTEAL	SHURI	ILAI	DAIA

с	r.		r.	
Dataset	Model	Top 5 words	Top 10 words	Top 20 words
	LDA	-22.866	-140.049	-684.379
Short Toxt	SC-LDA-FA	-19.155	-128.452	-647.265
Small Contexts	MoU	-19.719	-126.775	-640.453
Sman Contexts	SC-MoU-FA	-19.935	-124.843	-636.639
	BTM	-17.304	-119.244	-623.205
	LDA	-21.803	-131.204	-680.870
Short Tort	SC-LDA-FA	-17.628	-118.817	-618.784
Larger Contexts	MoU	-19.035	-125.617	-627.604
	SC-MoU-FA	-18.214	-120.702	-624.448
	BTM	-18.206	-119.148	-606.940
	LDA	-10.259	-69.486	-361.202
Medium Text	SC-LDA-FA	-10.457	-67.579	-355.795
Small Contexts	MoU	-13.604	-86.382	-408.539
	SC-MoU-FA	-15.099	-93.633	-443.087
	LDA	-10.403	-68.001	-352.820
Medium Text	SC-LDA-FA	-10.058	-65.566	-353.535
Larger Contexts	MoU	-11.573	-72.316	-414.466
	SC-MoU-FA	-11.573	-72.916	-414.039

Table 3.4: Topic Coherence results with K set to the number of ground truth classes (K=10).

3.4.2 Topic Coherence Evaluation

In this section we present and discuss the results for topic coherence, a measure of topic quality which aims to capture the human interpretability of topics in an automatic fashion (i.e.: no human annotators). Please consult Chapter 2.3.1 for a review of the task and details about the utilized metric.

In Table 3.4 we list the topic coherence results when K is set to the number of ground truth classes, whereas in Table 3.5 we show the trends when K varies. On the short text datasets, LDA is the worst performing model across all levels of K and number of top words, confirming that sparsity drastically affects this model (see the first two rows of Table 3.5). On short text data with small contexts (first row of Table 3.5), SC-LDA-FA is second to last, managing to outperform overall only its non-context baseline (i.e.: LDA) - note though that there is a clear improvement in performance brought by the context, but still, the model does not shine compared to the top performers. When the contexts contain more opportunity for aggregation and K is set to the number of ground truth classes (see second row of Table 3.4), SC-LDA-FA is overall the best model. However, as K is increasing, sparsity starts



 Table 3.5:
 Topic Coherence results when K varies

to reappear, and the performance of SC-LDA-FA drops again to the penultimate place (second row of Table 3.5). In general, on the short text datasets (first 2 rows of Table 3.5), MoU is the better model; its context-extended counterpart, SC-MoU-FA, fails to register stable improvements. BTM, our choice for the state of the art, outperforms the other models only when K is set to the number of ground truth classes (first 2 rows of Table 3.4). As K starts to increase, BTM's performance drops below those of "one topic per document" models (best seen in the first row of Table 3.5).

On medium-sized text, the worst performing models are MoU and SC-MoU-FA (last 2 rows of Tables 3.4 and 3.5) - this is in accordance with the expectation

Dataset	Model	Purity	NMI	ARI
	LDA	0.550	0.190	0.113
Short Toxt	SC-LDA-FA	0.784	0.499	0.361
Small Contoxts	MoU	0.658	0.339	0.325
Sillan Contexts	SC-MoU-FA	0.664	0.354	0.342
	BTM	0.769	0.455	0.361
	LDA	0.578	0.233	0.195
Short Toxt	SC-LDA-FA	0.820	0.584	0.462
Larger Contexts	MoU	0.752	0.489	0.546
Larger Contexts	SC-MoU-FA	0.789	0.543	0.579
	BTM	0.805	0.533	0.448
	LDA	0.770	0.502	0.348
Medium Text	SC-LDA-FA	0.824	0.587	0.400
Small Contexts	MoU	0.588	0.370	0.365
	SC-MoU-FA	0.589	0.374	0.370
	LDA	0.819	0.551	0.408
Medium Text	SC-LDA-FA	0.886	0.686	0.592
Larger Contexts	MoU	0.730	0.590	0.566
	SC-MoU-FA	0.734	0.605	0.577

3. TOPIC MODELS FOR SINGLE-CONTEXT SHORT TEXT DATA

Table 3.6: Document Clustering results with K set to the number of ground truth classes (K=10).

that the "one topic per document" assumption of these models is unsuitable for any piece of text that is not short. LDA becomes competitive now since there are more observations per documents available, while SC-LDA-FA is overall the best performing model.

3.4.3 Document Clustering Evaluation

In this section we present and discuss the results for document clustering. We asses this task with three common metrics: Purity, Normalized Mutual Information and Adjusted Rand Index. Please consult Chapter 2.3.2 for a review of the task and details about the utilized metrics.

When the performance of the document clustering task is measured in terms of Purity and NMI, SC-LDA-FA is clearly the best performing model across all evaluated text environments and levels of K (Tables 3.6 and 3.7). Sticking with the same metrics, BTM, our choice for the state of the art, comes second place (first 2 rows of Tables 3.6 and 3.7). LDA is the worst performer across all metrics, reconfirming the drastic impact sparsity has on this model - result more pronounced



 Table 3.7: Document Clustering results when K varies

on the short text datasets but present also in the medium text datasets. The "one topic per document" models, MoU and SC-MoU-FA, are performing in most cases on par suggesting that context is not helpful in this evaluation setting. Another observation about the mixture models is that they perform overall better in terms of ARI than all the other models - a possible explanation might be that their hard constraint helps them reduce the false positive and false negative clustering decisions penalized by the metric.

3.4.4 Document Classification Evaluation

In this section we present and discuss the results for document classification. We asses this task in terms of Accuracy. Please consult Chapter 2.3.3 for a review of the task and details about the utilized metric.

For the document classification task the results indicate clear and consistent rankings across all levels of K. On the short text datasets (first row of Table 3.8), SC-LDA-FA is the best performing model. The second best model is BTM. The ranking is completed by SC-MoU-FA, MoU and LDA. LDA is by far the worst performer, making the gains obtained by SC-LDA-FA reach very large values (e.g. from Table 3.8: 0.55 vs 0.82; 0.58 vs. 0.84). This is another reconfirmation of the drastic effect sparsity has on LDA. We make the observation that for a classification task, a model like LDA, which assumes one topic per word, can produce more features for document representation (a maximum of K) than MoU or SC-MoU-FA (which produce only one feature with high mass). Nevertheless, LDA, because of sparsity, ranks below these "one topic per document" models. We further point out that the context extension of MoU, SC-MoU-FA obtained a good performance boost over the standard mixture model.

On the medium text datasets, SC-LDA-FA is again the best model. Since the length of documents is far bigger now than in the previous datasets (see Table 3.1 for the statistics), LDA becomes the second best model, surpassing both MoU and SC-MoU-FA which seem to be performing on par.

3.5 Discussion

In this chapter we explicitly modelled the implicit assumptions of document aggregation, a popular heuristic employed to alleviate the sparsity suffered by topic models in short text environments, and applied it to two standard model architectures: a mixture and an admixture. We evaluated the enhanced models on both very short (i.e.: titles of publications) and medium (i.e.: abstracts) text items, with different opportunities for aggregation (a smaller vs. a larger number of documents per context). Since the target was short text data, we included for comparison a state of

Dataset	Model	Accuracy
	LDA	0.555
Short Toxt	SC-LDA-FA	0.822
Small Contoxts	MoU	0.655
Sman Contexts	SC-MoU-FA	0.664
	BTM	0.790
	LDA	0.583
Short Toxt	SC-LDA-FA	0.840
Larger Contexts	MoU	0.732
Larger Contexts	SC-MoU-FA	0.790
	BTM	0.818
	LDA	0.812
Medium Text	SC-LDA-FA	0.863
Small Contexts	MoU	0.638
	SC-MoU-FA	0.639
	LDA	0.845
Medium Text	SC-LDA-FA	0.915
Larger Contexts	MoU	0.721
	SC-MoU-FA	0.734

Table 3.8: Document Classification results with K set to the number of ground truth classes (K=10).



Table 3.9: Document Classification results when K varies

the art model from this area of topic modelling [56]. The evaluation assessed topic coherence, document clustering and document classification. We list below the main findings:

- **Clustering** The context extension of LDA is the best performing model across the evaluated datasets (short and medium text; smaller and larger contexts), surpassing the state of the art in short text data. The context extension of MoU brings little to no benefits over the standard mixture model.
- Classification We find that the context enhanced version of LDA outperformed the state of art on short text (in both cases of smaller and larger contexts). The context extension of MoU brings good improvements over its standard version only on short text data with larger contexts; even so, the model is far inferior to the context extension of LDA, also ranking below the state of the art. The context extension of LDA is, at the same time, the best performer on the medium text datasets.
- **Topic Coherence** We find there is no clear generic pattern that favours one model to the other here. Please consult Section 3.4.2 for more fine grained patterns.

Based on the assessments made in this chapter, we can conclude that the context extension of LDA is overall the best performing model, capable of surpassing the state of the art in short text data when there is at least a small amount of aggregation available for each context. The model assumptions of LDA are also the ones most probable to benefit from aggregation. We find that the context extension of MoU rarely improves over the standard mixture model. "Statistically" this makes sense. In both cases (the context extension of LDA and MoU) one has to infer context specific topic proportions. In case of LDA, the "one topic per word" assumption produces many more sufficient statistics compared with MoU and its "one topic per document" assumption. This means, for an admixture, we have more confidence in the inference of the K-dimensional vector of context topic proportions.

We would also like to discuss some limitations behind the work from this chapter. First of all, we did not intend to identify which context is most suitable for aggregation (performance-wise). Previous studies, which were also the motivation behind this chapter, already showed, for example, that author or hashtag are useful context choices [22, 31]. Instead, in this chapter, we gave a formal treatment to the document aggregation heuristic applied to topic models and built an experimental set up that allowed us to determine which class of models - a mixture vs. an admixture - benefits more from aggregation. A secondary objective was to assess whether document aggregation can lead to state of the art performance. Nevertheless, we note that we also experimented with other choices of context which provided results below the ones reported in this chapter. We noticed that contextual information is not useful when it is shared by documents that are not topically related. For example, utilizing "month" as context, would not be suitable, as papers from all the ground truth classes can be published in a certain month. This observation applies to our datasets, but can be quite inadequate for others where the "month" context can happen to be a good topical discriminator. This warrants further future work to show how this will generalize beyond the chosen datasets and context.

3. TOPIC MODELS FOR SINGLE-CONTEXT SHORT TEXT DATA

Chapter 4

A Co-occurrence-based Topic Model for Short Text Data

In normal text data, the availability of repeating word co-occurrences across the documents is known as a core contributor to the discovery of latent topics. However, the possibility of such patterns to arise in a short text dataset is reduced. With this observation in mind, we propose a new model for short text data which assumes every document is a bag of word co-occurrences, where each co-occurrence belongs to a latent topic. The documents are enhanced a priori with related co-occurrences from the other documents, such that the collection will have a greater chance than before to exhibit word patterns. We evaluate the model on two labeled datasets of tweets and one of titles of scientific publications. The evaluation targets multiple tasks such as topic coherence, document clustering and document classification. The proposed model performs well managing to surpass the state of the art and popular topic model baselines.

4.1 Motivation

We have previously addressed in detail (i.e.: Chapter 3) the reasons why models like Latent Dirichlet Allocation (LDA) fail on short text data, and how simpler models like Mixture of Unigrams (MoU) manage to obtain a better performance. The approach we took to alleviate sparsity was to exploit the available context which

accompanies certain types of short text data items (e.g.: the author in a dataset of titles of scientific publications). However, contextual information is not always available or it does not help (i.e.: it is shared by documents which have little or no topical relationship). For these types of situations a general purpose model for short text data is desirable.

Admixture models like LDA work well on normal text collections because word co-occurrence patterns arise across the documents. Because of the small number of words per document that characterizes short text collections, the opportunity for such patterns to arise consistently in this environment is reduced. With this observation in mind, we propose a new model for short text data which assumes that every document is a bag of word co-occurrences, where each co-occurrence belongs to a latent topic. The documents are enhanced a priori with related cooccurrences from the other documents, such that the collection will have increased chances of exhibiting word patterns.

We evaluate the proposed model on two labeled datasets of tweets and one of titles of scientific publications. The latter is a dataset we previously used in the evaluation from Chapter 3, where the context extension of LDA (i.e.: SC-LDA-FA) was, overall, the best performer. We introduce this dataset in the evaluation because, in addition to comparing the model with popular topic baselines and the state of the art, we want to assess its performance relative to a model like SC-LDA-FA which leverages contextual information. This allows us to assess whether utilizing context (when available) still leads to better results. The evaluation targets multiple tasks such as topic coherence, document clustering and document classification.

In the inference process, we show the model is part of a special class of models whose complete conditionals are in the exponential family - this allows both batch and stochastic variational inference to be employed [20], flexibility which can be exploited in both offline and online settings.

We want to highlight here the Biterm Topic Model (BTM) of Yan *et al.* [56]. The model makes use of co-occurrences in the form of biterms (i.e.: a pair of words). It builds a collection of all the biterms which can be generated from the documents taken as input. BTM assumes global topic proportions to alleviate sparsity and one topic per biterm which leads to a richer model compared to MoU (as documents have more than one biterm; hence the possibility to exhibit more topics). The model proposed in this chapter will also use "biterms" as a choice for word co-occurrences due to their simplicity, but the work is quite different: our model assumes document specific topic proportions and reduces sparsity by enhancing each document with relevant "biterms" from the collection. We note that BTM does not have a parameter which directly captures the topical representation of the documents. The authors do provide though a way of indirectly calculating this vector of probabilities with the parameters of the model. In the evaluation we find our model to outperform BTM.

4.2 Model Specification

In this section we describe a new topic model for short text data which is based on word co-occurrences. We will refer in our discussions to the proposed model as CTM (Co-occurrence Topic Model).

The model takes as input a collection of documents indexed by $d \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$. Every document d is a collection of word co-occurrences indexed by $p \in \{1, 2, ..., N_d\}$. Every co-occurrence p is a collection of words indexed by $n \in \{1, 2, ..., N_{d,p}\}$.

The graphical model of CTM is presented in Figure 4.1. The generative process is given below:

- For every topic $i \in \{1, 2, ..., K\}$:
 - Draw a word distribution $\beta_i \sim Dir(\eta)$
- For every document $d \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$:
 - Draw document-level topic proportions $\theta_d \sim Dir(\alpha)$
 - For every word co-occurrence $p \in \{1, 2, ..., N_d\}$:
 - * Draw a topic $z_{d,p} \sim Cat(\theta_d)$
 - * For every word position $n \in \{1, 2, ..., N_{d,p}\}$:
 - · Draw word $w_{d,p,n} \sim Cat(\beta_{z_{d,p}})$



Figure 4.1: Graphical Model of CTM

The model requires the collections associated with the word co-occurrences from every document to be defined before the learning phase. The generative process expressed above gives a formal description of the model in a generic scenario. In our experiments we focus on one special case of word co-occurrences, those formed of two words only. For every document we compute all the word pairs. We then build a global pair co-occurrence matrix (where each entry tells the frequency of co-occurrence between two word pairs). Finally, for each pair that belongs to a document we extract from the global matrix the top T pairs. Now every document will have the original word pairs plus the ones we just selected. Because of the large overlap of pair co-occurrences and noise, we choose to simply represent the document as the set of the pairs that result from the described selection process. Future work can look into better ways of selecting word co-occurrences that are related to a document (e.g.: taking into consideration, besides frequency, the coverage across the documents; or utilizing n-gram co-occurrences). The idea was to simply enhance the documents with related co-occurring words such that patterns arise across the collection - this is similar to what happens in a normal text environment in the case of a admixture model like LDA.

We note that CTM can be viewed as a general extension of LDA. When every word from a document is placed into a single-element co-occurrence collection, the model degenerates into LDA.

4.3 Model Inference

To infer the latent parameters of the introduced model, we use the techniques of variational inference for models whose complete conditionals are in the exponential family. Please consult Chapter 2.2.1 for a review. To keep things focused, we give here only an overview of the steps and derivations involved in the inference process - complementing material can be found in Appendix B.

We start by listing the complete conditional of every latent variable of the model given the other latent variables and the observations. Making the observation that each such complete conditional is in the exponential family, we further define the corresponding variational distributions to have the same functional form.

In Equation (4.1) we compute the complete conditional associated with the perdocument topic proportions.

$$p(\theta_d | \theta_-, z, \beta, w) = Dir(a), a_i = \alpha_i + \sum_{p=1}^{N_d} I(z_{d,p} = i)$$
(4.1)

Because the complete conditional of the per-document topic proportions is a Dirichlet, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Dirichlet as well $q(\theta_d|\gamma_d) = Dir(\gamma_d)$.

In Equation (4.2) we compute the complete conditional associated with the topics.

$$p(\beta_i|\beta_-, z, \theta, w) = Dir(b), b_j = \eta_j + \sum_{d,p,n}^{M, N_d, N_{d,p}} I(w_{d,p,n} = j)I(z_{d,p} = i)$$
(4.2)

Because the complete conditional of the topics is a Dirichlet, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Dirichlet as well $q(\beta_i|\lambda_i) = Dir(\lambda_i)$.

In Equation (4.3) we compute the complete conditional associated with the per word co-occurrence topic assignments.

$$p(z_{d,p} = i | z_{-}, \theta, \beta, w) \propto \exp\{\log \theta_{d,i} + \sum_{n=1}^{N_{d,p}} \log \beta_{i,w_{d,p,n}}\}$$
 (4.3)

Because the complete conditional of the per word co-occurrence topic assignment is a Categorical, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Categorical as well $q(z_{d,p}|\phi_{d,p}) = Cat(\phi_{d,p})$.

We have now fully specified the form of the variational distribution used to approximate the posterior of CTM - Figure 4.2 presents its graphical model. Having



Figure 4.2: The graphical model of the variational distribution used to approximate the posterior of CTM

also specified the complete conditionals, we can derive next the update formulas of the variational parameters. The derivations are made based on the observation that the natural parameters of the variational distributions are equal to the expected value of the natural parameters of the corresponding complete conditionals.

In Equation (4.4) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the topics.

$$\lambda_{i,j} = \eta_j + \sum_{d,p,n}^{M,N_d,N_{d,p}} I(w_{d,p,n} = j)\phi_{d,p,i}$$
(4.4)

In Equation (4.5) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the per-document topic proportions.

$$\gamma_{d,i} = \alpha_i + \sum_{p=1}^{N_d} \phi_{d,p,i} \tag{4.5}$$

In Equation (4.6) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the per word co-occurrence topic assignments.

$$\phi_{d,p,i} \propto \exp\{\Psi(\gamma_{d,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0}) + \sum_{n,j}^{N_{d,p},V} I(w_{d,p,n} = j)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))\}$$
(4.6)

With the update formulas of the variational parameters at hand, the algorithm is straightforward. The variational parameters are updated iteratively until convergence. This type of algorithm is known in the literature as Variational EM [9]. The pseudo-code can be found in Algorithm 2.

```
Algorithm 2 Variational EM for CTM
 1: Initialize \lambda
    while no global convergence do
 2:
 3:
        for d = 1 to M do
           Initialize \gamma_d
 4:
           while no local convergence do
 5:
               for p = 1 to N_d do
 6:
 7:
                   for i = 1 to K do
                       Update \phi_{d,p,i} using Equation (4.6)
 8:
                   end for
 9:
                   Normalize \phi_{d,p,*} to sum to 1
10:
11:
               end for
               for i = 1 to K do
12:
                   Update \gamma_{d,i} using Equation (4.5)
13:
14:
               end for
           end while
15:
        end for
16:
        for i = 1 to K do
17:
           for j = 1 to V do
18:
               Update \lambda_{i,j} using Equation (4.4)
19:
20:
           end for
        end for
21:
22: end while
```

4.4 Evaluation

We evaluate the model on two labeled datasets of tweets and one of titles of scientific publications. The evaluation targets multiple tasks such as topic coherence, document clustering and document classification. Please consult Chapter 2.3 for details about the metrics utilized to assess these tasks.

The following models are used in the evaluation for comparison:

• Co-occurrence Topic Model (CTM) This is the model proposed in this chapter. Common values for sparse priors are used ($\alpha = 0.1$; $\eta = 0.01$). We also use T=30 (i.e.: the number of additional co-occurring pairs we bring into the document for each existing pair; remember though that we use the set of the resulting collection to reduce noise and repetition). We found this setting to provide a good performance across the datasets. Nevertheless, we reiterate that identifying better ways to add related word co-occurrences to the documents is desirable. We leave this out to future work.

- Latent Dirichlet Allocation (LDA) We use the prior values recommended in previous work [36, 56] (α = 0.1; η = 0.01). For a review of this model please consult Chapter 2.1.1.2.
- Mixture of Unigrams (MoU) We use the prior values recommended in previous work [56] (α = 50/K; η = 0.01). For a review of this model please consult Chapter 2.1.1.1.
- Biterm Topic Model (BTM) This model proposed by Yan et al. [56] has been selected to represent the state of the art in short text data. The model has a preprocessing step in which all the biterms (i.e.: word pairs) of every document are generated. Then the biterms become the input of a Mixture of Unigrams model (i.e.: global topic proportions and one topic per biterm). For a fair comparison, we reimplemented the model with Variational Inference (original implementation is done using Gibbs Sampling). We use the same priors as in the original paper (α = 50/K; η = 0.01).
- SC-LDA FA This is the SC-LDA model described in Chapter 3 with first author as context. This particular instance was the best performer from that chapter. We use it to assess whether utilizing context (when available) still leads to better results. Common values for sparse priors are used (α = 0.1; η = 0.01).

The models are initialized according to standard practices from the literature. Blei & Lafferty [8] find that a good way to initialize the topics is to use a random sample of N documents from the corpus and compute a smoothed word distribution over the vocabulary space from the word counts of the random sample. We choose N to be 10.

We perform the evaluation with 3 levels of K (i.e.: the number of topics): K = Z, K = 2Z and K = 3Z, where Z is the number of ground truth classes of a dataset. For each setting of a model we do 10 runs and report the result that has the maximum ELBO - the bigger the ELBO the closer the variational approximation is to the true posterior.

Detect	Classos	Dogumenta	Unique	All	Average words
Dataset	Classes	Documents	words	words	per document
FSD	21	2108	742	14457	6.858
Sanders	4	2073	1210	10366	5.000
arXiv	10	14587	2833	92518	6.342

Table 4.1: Statistics of the datasets used in the evaluation

4.4.1 Dataset Selection

We use in the evaluation three datasets of short text data. Two of the datasets contain tweets: First Story Detection (FSD) [38] and Sanders¹. The other dataset consists of titles of scientific publications downloaded from arXiV.org, a dataset we also used in Chapter 3. Table 4.1 summarizes useful dataset statistics after preprocessing (basic stop and rare word removal). The ground truth classes of FSD correspond to events such as "Death of Amy Winehouse" or "Terrorist attack in Delhi"; the Sanders corpus contains hand classified tweets into 4 distinct categories (e.g.: "google", "microsoft"); while the arXiv dataset has labels which correspond to different areas from physics (e.g.: "Condensed Matter", "Nuclear Theory").

To facilitate the replicability of the experimental setup we note that the original FSD dataset contains 27 classes. We discarded 6 of them because they contain a small number of tweets (less than 10). The discarded classes are: "Topic 3: Betty Ford dies", "Topic 5: Flight Noar Linhas Aereas 4896 crashes, all 16 passengers dead", "Topic 11: Goran Hadzic, Yugoslavian war criminal, arrested", "Topic 12: India and Bangladesh sign a peace pact", "Topic 23: South Sudan becomes a UN member state", and "Topic 26: Rebels capture Tripoli international airport, Libya". In terms of preprocessing, on the Sanders and FSD datasets the following actions were taken: removed stop words, words with a length smaller than 3 characters, words with a global frequency smaller than 3 and discarded documents with less than 3 words. In addition to that, for the Sanders dataset we also had to remove the non-English tweets. For details about the arXiv dataset please consult Chapter 3.4.1 (where it is labeled as "Short Text Larger Contexts").

¹Available at http://www.sananalytics.com/lab/twitter-sentiment/

Dataset	Method	Top 5 words	Top 10 words	Top 20 words
	LDA	-8.834	-73.397	-434.231
FSD	MoU	-10.354	-78.253	-436.299
T SD	BMT	-7.513	-64.275	-409.479
	CTM	-6.700	-58.522	-396.275
	LDA	-14.723	-110.759	-552.352
Sandors	MoU	-13.666	-103.420	-552.043
Sanders	BTM	-14.076	-108.101	-545.227
	CTM	-12.356	-94.394	-524.661
	LDA	-21.803	-131.204	-680.870
	MoU	-19.035	-125.617	-627.604
arXiv	BTM	-18.206	-119.148	-606.940
	CTM	-17.771	-116.640	-602.169
	SC-LDA FA	-17.628	-118.817	-618.784

Table 4.2: Topic Coherence results with K set to the number of ground truth classes: K=21 for FSD, K=4 for Sanders and K=10 for arXiv.

4.4.2 Topic Coherence Evaluation

In this section we present and discuss the results for topic coherence, a measure of topic quality which aims to capture the human interpretability of topics in an automatic fashion (i.e.: no human annotators). Please consult Chapter 2.3.1 for a review of the task and details about the utilized metric.

In Table 4.2 we list the topic coherence results when K is set to the number of ground truth classes, whereas in Table 4.3 we show the trends as K varies. On the datasets that consist of tweets (i.e.: FSD and Sanders) CTM manages to clearly outperform all the other models across all levels of K (see both Tables 4.2 and 4.3). On the FSD dataset, the state of the art, BTM, comes second best, while on the Sanders dataset it falls behind MoU, occupying the third place. On the arXiv dataset, BTM and CTM tend to perform on par; MoU manages here to get the best results on the top 10 and 20 words for larger values of K (see Table 4.3). LDA is clearly the worst performing model on Sanders and arXiv datasets, reconfirming the negative effect sparsity has on this model (see Tables 4.2 and 4.3).

4.4.3 Document Clustering Evaluation

In this section we present and discuss the results for document clustering. We asses this task with three common metrics: Purity, Normalized Mutual Information and



Table 4.3: Topic Coherence results when K varies

Dataset	Method	Purity	NMI	ARI
	LDA	0.857	0.801	0.726
FSD	MoU	0.799	0.725	0.575
I SD	BMT	0.894	0.815	0.597
	CTM	0.915	0.849	0.604
	LDA	0.481	0.108	0.097
Candana	MoU	0.484	0.104	0.111
Sanders	BTM	0.523	0.143	0.136
	CTM	0.537	0.140	0.134
	LDA	0.578	0.233	0.195
	MoU	0.752	0.489	0.546
arXiv	BTM	0.805	0.533	0.448
	CTM	0.809	0.546	0.607
	SC-LDA FA	0.820	0.584	0.462

Table 4.4: Document Clustering results with K set to the number of ground truth classes: K=21 for FSD, K=4 for Sanders and K=10 for arXiv.

Adjusted Rand Index. Please consult Chapter 2.3.2 for a review of the task and details about the utilized metrics. Table 4.4 lists the results when K is set to the number of ground truth classes, while Table 4.5 shows the trends as K varies.

CTM manages to outperform, overall, the baselines (i.e.: MoU, LDA) and the state of the art (i.e.: BTM), on all the datasets, across all metrics, and levels of K (see Table 4.5). On the arXiv dataset, SC-LDA FA, with the help of contextual information, outperforms all the other models (see Purity and NMI from Table 4.5). LDA is overall the worst performer, while MoU comes second to last (best seen on the Sanders and arXiv datasets from Table 4.5). The state of the art, BTM, consistently ranks below our proposed model CTM, but on top of the baselines.

4.4.4 Document Classification Evaluation

In this section we present and discuss the results for document classification. We asses this task in terms of Accuracy. Please consult Chapter 2.3.3 for a review of the task and details about the utilized metric. Table 4.6 lists the results when K is set to the number of ground truth classes, while Table 4.7 shows the trends as K varies.

CTM outperforms all the other models on the datasets of tweets (see FSD and Sanders columns from Table 4.7). On the arXiv dataset, SC-LDA FA, with the



Table 4.5: Document Clustering results when K varies

Dataset	Method	Accuracy
FSD	LDA	0.873
	MoU	0.794
	BMT	0.917
	CTM	0.940
Sanders	LDA	0.498
	MoU	0.480
	BTM	0.531
	CTM	0.530
arXiv	LDA	0.583
	MoU	0.732
	BTM	0.818
	CTM	0.815
	SC-LDA FA	0.840

Table 4.6: Document Classification results with K set to the number of ground truth classes: K=21 for FSD, K=4 for Sanders and K=10 for arXiv.



 Table 4.7: Document Classification results when K varies

help of contextual information, has the best results across all levels of K (see last column of Table 4.7). On the same dataset, CTM and BTM perform on par. On the Sanders and arXiv datasets, the mixture model performs better than the admixture model (i.e.: MoU vs. LDA), the latter being drastically affected by sparsity (best seen on the arXiv dataset). This last result is more pronounced since MoU has the disadvantage brought by its "one topic per document" assumption which, in a classification task, produces only one feature to represent a document. The state of the art, BTM, consistently performs better than the baselines.

4.5 Discussion

As a follow-up to the discussion from Chapter 3 that topic models like LDA fail on short text data because of the lack of enough observations for a reliable inference, in this chapter we proposed a new topic model, which in contrast to our previous approach to alleviate sparsity, it can be used when contextual information is not available or it does not help. The introduced model was formulated around the observation that in normal text data, a classic model like LDA works well because patterns of word co-occurrences arise across the documents. In the generative process every document was modelled as a bag of word co-occurrences, where each co-occurrence belongs to a latent topic. The documents were enhanced a priori with related co-occurrences from the other documents, such that the collection had a greater chance of exhibiting word patterns.

We evaluated the model on two labeled datasets of tweets and one of titles of sci-
entific publications. The evaluation targeted multiple tasks such as topic coherence, document clustering and document classification. We list below the main findings:

- We find that, overall, our model surpasses the state of the art and the other baselines in terms of Topic Coherence, Document Clustering and Classification.
- The best performing contextual model from Chapter 3 (i.e.: SC-LDA FA) manages to get the best results in this evaluation as well in terms of Document Clustering and Classification, further strengthening the argument that contextual information is indeed useful when available.

Based on the assessments made in this chapter we can conclude that, overall, the proposed model brings an increase in performance when compared with the state of the art. We believe there is room for improvement, especially in the way related word co-occurrences are added to the documents, which we leave out to future work. It is also worth investigating the effect the enhancement has on the original topical representation of the documents. The added co-occurrences can lead to a concept drift (i.e.: an unforeseen change in the topical representations). Nevertheless, in our evaluation set up the model performed well. The results indicate that novel approaches which focus on modeling word co-occurrences are a promising direction towards a new class of models for short text data.

4. A CO-OCCURRENCE-BASED TOPIC MODEL FOR SHORT TEXT DATA

Chapter 5

Experimenting with a Subset Topic Model

Traditional topic models assume either a single topic per document, or a mixture of topics, where the number of mixture components is the same as the total number of topics the model aims to extract from the whole collection. However, neither of the aforementioned assumptions are entirely plausible. Even if the "one topic per document" assumption performs reasonably well on a short text dataset such as a Twitter collection, there can be many tweets which cover more than one topic. At the same time, even though longer documents tend to cover multiple topics, it is implausible they cover the whole topic space. In this chapter we experiment with a new topic model architecture which models documents using only a subset of the total number of topics. We compare the introduced model with the best known topic models that follow the aforementioned assumptions. The evaluation assesses coherence, a measure of topic interpretability, and is performed in varying text environments from very short to medium and longer text. The experiments indicate a connection between the size of the documents and the performance of the models with respect to the number of topics assumed for every document.

5.1 Motivation

Traditional topic model architectures such as Latent Dirichlet Allocation (LDA) and Mixture of Unigrams (MoU) aim to extract K topics from a data collection. While MoU assumes a document exhibits only one topic, at the other extreme, LDA models a document as a mixture of all the K topics. These distinct assumptions make the former more suitable in short text environments, and the latter a better fit in normal text data. [36, 56]. Yan *et al.* [56] mention in their work that LDA's poor performance in short text data is caused by the K-dimensional vector governing the per-document topic proportions - sparsity arises as its inference relies on a small number of observations (i.e.: the words in the document). In a study on the factors which affect the performance of LDA, Tang *et al.* [45] conclude that poor performance is expected when the documents are too short, even if you have a large collection. Another important conclusion of the study (with respect to the motivation behind this chapter) is that LDA is expected to perform better when the documents are associated with small subsets of topics.

In this chapter we argue that neither of the aforementioned assumptions of MoU and LDA are entirely plausible. Even if the "one topic per document" assumption performs reasonably well on a short text dataset such as a Twitter collection, there can be many tweets which cover more than one topic. At the same time, even though longer documents tend to cover multiple topics, it is implausible they cover the whole topic space. With these observations in mind, we propose a new topic model architecture which maintains the generic goal of discovering K topics in a corpus, but models documents as a mixture of only a subset of the topic space. The model aims to provide a generative process that is closer to a natural topical interpretation of the documents: if there are K topics in a corpus, then a document exhibits only a small subset of them.

In the evaluation we assess the performance of multiple instances of the model with different subset sizes. We also include MoU and LDA, the models with the extreme assumptions (one topic only vs. all topical space). The evaluation is performed in different text environments, covering very short, medium and longer text. The characteristics of the datasets allow us to assess whether a smaller number of topics is sufficient in short text documents compared to collections of longer text where a slightly bigger number might be better suited. The evaluation targets topic coherence, a measure of topic quality which aims to capture the human interpretability of topics in an automatic fashion (i.e.: no human annotators).

5.2 Model Specification

In this section we describe a new topic model architecture based on subsets of topics. We will refer in our discussions to the proposed model as STM (Subset Topic Model).

The model takes as input a collection of documents indexed by $d \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$. Every document d is a collection of words indexed by $n \in \{1, 2, ..., N_d\}$. The model uses a predefined collection of topic subsets indexed by $x \in \{1, 2, ..., S\}$. The length of each subset x is a fixed constant T. The elements of a subset are indexed by $p \in \{1, 2, ..., T\}$. The p's element of a subset x is one of the K topics - and can be accessed via the following operation $x \cdot p = i$, where $i \in \{1, 2, ..., K\}$ is a topic.

The graphical model of STM is presented in Figure 5.1. The generative process is given below:

- 1. Draw proportions over the subsets $\pi \sim Dir_S(\delta)$
- 2. For every topic $i \in \{1, 2, ..., K\}$:
 - (a) Draw a word distribution $\beta_i \sim Dir_V(\eta)$
- 3. For every document $d \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$:
 - (a) Draw a subset $t_d \sim Cat_S(\pi)$
 - (b) Draw proportions over the indexes of a subset's elements $\theta_d \sim Dir_T(\alpha)$
 - (c) For every word position $n \in \{1, 2, ..., N_d\}$:
 - i. Draw an index of a subset's element $z_{d,n} \sim Cat_T(\theta_d)$
 - ii. Draw word $w_{d,n} \sim Cat_V(\beta_{t_d.z_{d,n}})$



Figure 5.1: Graphical model of STM

5.2.1 Choosing the Subset Space

The model uses a predefined collection of topic subsets indexed by $x \in \{1, 2, ..., S\}$ where the length of each subset x is a fixed constant T. A natural choice for the subset space is to use all combinations of the K topics taken T at a time. In this case, $S = {K \choose T}$, can be too large for standard computation.

In this section we propose a way of generating a more manageable number S of subsets of length T formed with the K topics. Concretely, we are going to cut down some of the subsets generated by the combinations. We make the observation that in the space of combinations $S = {K \choose T}$ every topic i appears in the company of other topics ${K-1 \choose T-1}$ times. We reduce S by constraining every topic i to appear in a smaller number of subsets. From a modeling perspective, this should not be a hard constraint, as it is unlikely the documents from a collection require a topic to appear in all the possible combinations with the other topics.

For completeness we introduce in Algorithm 3 the process by which all the combinations of the K topics taken T at a time are generated. At every level, you take into consideration all the smaller levels.

Algorithm 3 Generating combinations of K taken T
1: for $i_1 = 1$ to K do
2: for $i_2 = 1$ to $i_1 - 1$ do
3:
4: for $i_T = 1$ to $i_{T-1} - 1$ do
5: Generate $(i_1, i_2,, i_T)$
6: end for
7: end for
8: end for

Algorithm 4 outlines the process by which only some of the combinations of the



Figure 5.2: The number of subsets in which each topic appears as J varies.

K topics taken T at a time are generated. At every level, you take into consideration only the first J smaller levels, where J is a fixed constant. Note that when J = K-1you generate the full space of combinations as in Algorithm 3.

Algorithm 4 Generating only some of the combinations of K taken T
1: for $i_1 = 1$ to K do
2: for $i_2 = \begin{cases} 1, & i_1 \leq J \\ i_1 - J, & i_1 > J \end{cases}$ to $i_1 - 1$ do
3:
4: for $i_T = \begin{cases} 1, & i_{T-1} \leq J \\ i_{T-1} - J, & i_{T-1} > J \end{cases}$ to $i_T - 1$ do
5: Generate $(i_1, i_2,, i_T)$
6: end for
7: end for
8: end for

The constant J controls the level of *approximation* with respect to the entire combinatorial space. Figure 5.2 illustrates an example of the behavior of Algorithm 4 when the combinatorial space is $\binom{K=50}{T=2}$.

In our experiments, we found the setting J = 2 to produce enough subsets for the STM model to perform well. Due to the lack of an obvious closed-form solution to the number of subsets produced by Algorithm 4, we list in Table 5.1 the number of subsets produced by the computer for different settings of K and T - this is to show we are dealing with a much smaller combinatorial space.

	T=2 T=3		T=4		T=5			
	J=2	J=K-1	J=2	J=K-1	J=2	J=K-1	J=2	J=K-1
K=10	17	45	28	120	44	210	64	252
K=20	37	190	68	1140	124	4845	224	15504
K=30	57	435	108	4060	204	27405	384	142506
K=40	77	780	148	9880	284	91390	544	658008
K=50	97	1225	188	19600	364	230300	704	2118760
K=60	117	1770	228	34220	444	487635	864	5461512
K=70	137	2415	268	54740	524	916895	1024	12103014
K=80	157	3160	308	82160	604	1581580	1184	24040016
K=90	177	4005	348	117480	684	2555190	1344	43949268
K=100	197	4950	388	161700	764	3921225	1504	75287520

Table 5.1: The number of subsets produced by Algorithm 4 with different values of K and T, keeping J = 2 fixed. For comparison purposes (with the entire combinatorial space), we also include the J = K - 1 setting.

5.3 Model Inference

To infer the latent parameters of the introduced model, we use standard variational inference, a deterministic technique for parameter estimation. Please consult Chapter 2.2.1 for a review. To keep things focused, we give here only an overview of the steps and derivations involved in the inference process - complementing material can be found in Appendix C.

The posterior of STM is presented in Equation (5.1) and factorizes according to the conditional dependencies from the graphical model presented in Figure 5.1. For simplicity we use symmetric priors on θ , β and π .

$$p(\theta, \beta, \pi, t, z | w, \alpha, \eta, \delta) \propto p(\theta | \alpha) p(\beta | \eta) p(\pi | \delta) p(t | \pi) p(z | \theta) p(w | z, t, \beta)$$
(5.1)

The variational distribution q used to approximate the STM posterior is presented in Equation (5.2) and factorizes according to the conditional dependencies from the graphical model presented in Figure 5.3.

$$q(\pi,\theta,\beta,t,z|\mu,\gamma,\lambda,\zeta,\phi) = q(\pi|\mu)q(\theta|\gamma)q(\beta|\lambda)q(t|\zeta)q(z|\phi)$$
(5.2)

With the posterior and the variational distribution at hand, we can define the



Figure 5.3: Graphical model of the variational distribution used to approximate the STM posterior

variational objective function. Equation (5.3) presents the ELBO in a compact form.

$$\mathcal{L} = E_q[\log p(\theta, \beta, \pi, w, z, t | \alpha, \eta, \delta)] - E_q[\log q(\theta, \beta, \pi, z, t | \gamma, \lambda, \mu, \phi, \zeta)]$$

$$= E_q[\log p(\pi | \delta)] + E_q[\log p(\theta | \alpha)] + E_q[\log p(\beta | \eta)] + E_q[\log p(z | \theta)] + E_q[\log p(t | \pi)] + E_q[\log p(w | z, t, \beta)] - E_q[\log q(\theta | \gamma)] - E_q[\log q(\theta | \gamma)] - E_q[\log q(\beta | \lambda)] - E_q[\log q(\pi | \mu)] - E_q[\log q(z | \phi)] - E_q[\log q(t | \zeta)]$$
(5.3)

Maximizing the lower bound with respect to the variational parameters leads to the desired update formulas.

In Equation (5.4) we provide the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the subset proportions.

$$\mu_x = \delta_x + \sum_{d=1}^M \zeta_{d,x} \tag{5.4}$$

In Equation (5.5) we provide the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the document-level proportions over the indexes of a subset.

$$\gamma_{d,p} = \alpha_p + \sum_{n=1}^{N_d} \phi_{d,n,p} \tag{5.5}$$

In Equation (5.6) we provide the update formula of the variational parameter

associated with the subset assignment to a document.

$$\zeta_{d,x} \propto \exp\{\Psi(\mu_x) - \Psi(\mu_0) + \sum_{\substack{N_d, T, K, V \\ n, p, i, j}}^{N_d, T, K, V} \phi_{d,n,p}(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))I(w_{d,n} = j)I(x.p = i)\}$$
(5.6)

In Equation (5.7) we provide the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the assignment of an index of a subset's element to a word.

$$\phi_{d,n,p} \propto \exp\{\Psi(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0}) + \sum_{x,i,j}^{S,K,V} \zeta_{d,x}(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))I(w_{d,n} = j)I(x.p = i)\}$$
(5.7)

In Equation (5.8) we provide the update formula of the variational parameter associated with a topic.

$$\lambda_{i,j} = \eta_j + \sum_{d,n,x,p}^{M,N_d,S,T} I(w_{d,n} = j)I(x.p = i)\zeta_{d,x}\phi_{d,n,p}$$
(5.8)

With the update formulas of the variational parameters at hand, the algorithm is straightforward. The variational parameters are updated iteratively until the lower bound from Equation (5.3) converges. This type of algorithm is known in the literature as Coordinate Ascent Mean-Field Variational Inference (CAVI) [10]. Algorithm 5 summarizes one iteration of CAVI.

5.3.1 Document-level Topic Proportions

STM does not model directly document-level topic proportions like, for example, LDA does. In this section we present a formula to generate this information using the estimated variational parameters.

Equation (5.9) gives the probability of topic i in document d. The formula is intuitive: the mass topic i receives in document d is based on the mass in document dof the subsets which contain topic i and the proportion of the topic in the document. Summing Equation (5.9) over i from 1 to K will give a result of one - an easy proof to show that we have indeed a probability distribution representing the document-level

Algorithm 5 One iteration of Mean Field Variational Inference for STM.

1: for d = 1 to M do 2: for n = 1 to N_d do 3: for p = 1 to T do Update $\phi_{d,n,p}$ using Equation (5.7) 4: end for 5:Normalize $\phi_{d,n,*}$ to sum to 1 6: 7:end for for x = 1 to S do 8: Update $\zeta_{d,x}$ using Equation (5.6) 9: end for 10: Normalize $\zeta_{d,*}$ to sum to 1 11: for p = 1 to T do 12:Update $\gamma_{d,p}$ using Equation (5.5) 13:14: end for 15: end for for x = 1 to S do 16:Update μ_x using Equation (5.4) 17:18: end for for i = 1 to K do 19:for j = 1 to V do 20: Update $\lambda_{i,j}$ using Equation (5.8) 21: 22: end for 23: end for

topic proportions.

$$p(topic = i|d) = \sum_{x=1}^{S} (\zeta_{d,x} \sum_{p=1}^{T} I(x.p = i) \frac{\gamma_{d,p}}{\sum_{p=1}^{T} \gamma_{d,p}})$$
(5.9)

5.4 Evaluation

The evaluation aims to assess the effect of constraining the number of topics a document can exhibit on the performance of the model given the characteristics of the input collection. The evaluation is done with respect to topic coherence, a measure of topic quality, in datasets showcasing different text environments, from very short, to medium and longer text.

The following models are used in the evaluation for comparison:

• Latent Dirichlet Allocation (LDA) This is a model in which documents are mixtures of K topics (the size of the entire topic space). We use the prior values recommended in previous work [36, 56] ($\alpha = 0.1$; $\eta = 0.01$). For a review of this model please consult Chapter 2.1.1.2.

- Mixture of Unigrams (MoU) This is a model in which documents exhibit only one topic. We use the prior values recommended in previous work [56] (α = 50/K; η = 0.01). For a review of this model please consult Chapter 2.1.1.1.
- Subset Topic Model (STM) We evaluate four instances of STM in which we fix the size of the subsets (number of maximum topics per document) to constants ranging from T = 2 to T = 5. The range of the per-document topics is selected to be plausible for short, medium and longer text collections. We use the approximation technique for the combinatorial space described in Section 5.2.1 with J=2. In terms of prior selection, we use common sparse priors for the word distribution of a topic (η = 0.01) and for the proportions over the subsets (δ = 0.1). For the per-document proportions over the indexes of a subset's elements we use a uniform, non-informative prior (α = 1.0).

The models are initialized according to standard practices from the literature. Blei & Lafferty [8] find that a good way to initialize the topics is to use a random sample of N documents from the corpus and compute a smoothed word distribution over the vocabulary space from the word counts of the random sample. We choose N to be 10.

We perform the evaluation with 3 levels of K (i.e.: number of topics): K = Z, K = 2Z and K = 3Z, where Z is the number of ground truth classes of a dataset. For each setting of a model we do 10 runs and report the result that has the maximum ELBO - the bigger the ELBO the closer the variational approximation is to the true posterior.

5.4.1 Dataset Selection

The evaluation is performed on four datasets, covering multiple text environments from very short, to medium and longer text. The datasets used are 20 Newsgroup (20NG) [11], Reuters 8 (R8) [11], Tag My News (TMN) [48] and a titles-only version of Tag My News (TMN-T). Table 5.2 summarizes useful dataset statistics after

Dataset	Classes	Documents	Unique words	All words	Average words per document
20 Newsgroup (20NG)	20	18780	9899	1798945	95.79
Reuters 8 (R8)	8	9863	5252	511255	51.84
Tag My News (TMN)	7	32600	8621	557101	17.09
Titles of Tag My News (TMN-T)	7	30130	6303	152689	5.07

Table 5.2: Statistics of the datasets used in the evaluation

preprocessing (basic stop and rare word removal). It is worth pointing out the last column from the table, which indicates the wide spectrum of text environments. The 20NG dataset contains 20 ground truth classes which correspond to a variety of topics from Computer Graphics, to Motorcycles, Baseball and Religion. The Reuters dataset has categories like Earn, Grain, Trade, or Interest. The TMN and TMN-T datasets contain documents from 7 generic categories covering Sport, Business, U.S., Health, Sci&Tech, World and Entertainment. The number of documents per ground truth class is relatively balanced in the 20NG dataset, and more sparse in the others.

To facilitate the replicability of the experimental setup we discuss the details behind the preprocessing. For all the datasets, we discarded stop words, words with a length smaller than 3 characters and documents with less than 3 words. For the R8 and TMN datasets we discarded the words with a global frequency less than 10. For the TMN-T dataset the frequency threshold was 5, while for 20NG it was 30.

5.4.2 Topic Coherence Evaluation

In this section we present and discuss the results for topic coherence, a measure of topic quality which aims to capture the human interpretability of topics in an automatic fashion (i.e.: no human annotators). Please consult Chapter 2.3.1 for a review of the task and details about the utilized metric.

We focus first on Table 5.3. The results indicate that using a model which allows K topics per document (i.e.: LDA) leads to the worst coherence scores compared with all the other models, across all columns, on very short to short text (TMN-T and TMN datasets). At the other extreme, using a model which allows only one

Dataset	Method Top 5 words		Top 10 words	Top 20 words
	MoU	-22.778	-146.090	-738.455
TMN-T	LDA	-29.395	-165.145	-778.575
	STM T2 J2	-25.398	-155.147	-745.603
	STM T3 J2	-24.834	-157.862	-773.100
	STM T4 J2	-25.573	-161.482	-776.503
	STM T5 J2	-25.063	-159.160	-773.580
	MoU	-19.895	-124.986	-616.045
	LDA	-20.850	-123.513	-622.296
TMN	STM T2 J2	-17.092	-110.920	-580.669
	STM T3 J2	-19.416	-117.573	-594.668
	STM T4 J2	-17.009	-115.882	-594.538
	STM T5 J2	-17.992	-116.690	-606.951
	MoU	-10.774	-76.348	-410.018
	LDA	-9.253	-71.768	-350.030
D8	STM T2 J2	-8.849	-69.822	-380.413
110	STM T3 J2	-6.961	-57.728	-357.312
	STM T4 J2	-6.349	-46.942	-307.390
	STM T5 J2	-7.184	-48.305	-322.277
20NG	MoU	-11.616	-73.009	-394.146
	LDA	-10.317	-74.227	-380.699
	STM T2 J2	-10.972	-73.515	-393.910
	STM T3 J2	-10.872	-75.059	-370.687
	STM T4 J2	-12.249	-75.634	-390.196
	STM T5 J2	-11.524	-74.971	-389.671

Table 5.3: Topic Coherence results with K set to the number of ground truth classes: K = 7 for TMN-T and TMN; K = 8 for R8; K = 20 for 20NG.

topic per document (MoU), leads to poor performance on medium to longer text (R8 and 20NG datasets). On very short text data (TMN-T dataset) the model with one topic per document (i.e.: MoU) does best - increasing the number of topics per document (STM T2 J2 to STM T5 J2) is mainly inversely proportional to the performance (best seen in Top 10 and 20 words columns), suggesting that a lower number of topics gives a better performance. Moving on from the TMN-T dataset to the TMN dataset we have a difference in the average words per document of 12 (statistic taken from Table 5.2). The difference in the number of words causes the performance of MoU to drop significantly (best seen in Top 10 and 20 words columns) - this suggests that more than one topic is now required; instances of STM with T = 2 to T = 5 confirm that by having the better performance. Going from the TMN dataset to the R8 dataset, the number of average words per document triples. The one topic per-document assumption of MoU causes to model to become the worst performer. LDA is now better than MoU but its assumption of a maximum of K topics per document is still too broad for the length of the documents, placing its performance behind the one obtained by the instances of STM. On the 20NG dataset, many models perform on par when coherence is assessed on the top 5 and 10 words. A more clear advantage is achieved by STM T3 on Top 20 words.

In Figure 5.4, the evaluation set-up from Table 5.3 is replicated on different levels of K. On the very short text dataset (TMN-T), LDA keeps the previously identified pattern as the worst performer across all K values. On the TMN dataset, where documents are slightly lengthier (17 words on average), you have the same pattern as before in which LDA and MoU are the worst performers. Moving on to the R8 dataset, where the number of words triples (51 words on average), the results are mixed, but there are still some useful observations. For example, MoU is the worst performer overall on coherence scores on the top 10 and 20 words. STM T4 and T5 are in most cases better than LDA. This last pattern is also kept on the 20NG dataset.



 Table 5.4:
 Topic Coherence results when K varies

5.5 Discussion

In this chapter we experimented with a topic model which assumes documents exhibit only a subset of the entire topic space. This complements existing work which assumes documents contain either a single topic - MoU - or a mixture of the entire topic space - LDA.

On very short text items (i.e.: 5 words on average) the evaluation confirms the previously known superiority of MoU and the drastic impact sparsity has on LDA. In this chapter we find though that on a dataset of items which are slightly bigger (i.e.: 17 words on average), instances of the proposed model with two to five topics per document perform better than both MoU and LDA. On the longer text datasets (i.e.: 51 and 95 words on average per documents), we find that LDA is surpassed by the models with subset sizes of 4 and 5.

The proposed subset topic model has its drawbacks. Mainly, a better way of creating the subsets of topics and assigning them to the documents in desirable (i.e.: having a generative process to guide the assignment of latent topics into latent subsets). Future work can look into utilizing a Markov chain for this purpose (e.g.: creating the subset by adding topics conditioned to the ones already present; doing so, the subsets can be viewed as clusters of correlated topics). Even though the evaluation is sometimes noisy, the results indicate a connection between the size of the documents and the performance of the models with respect to the number of topics assumed for every document. 5. EXPERIMENTING WITH A SUBSET TOPIC MODEL

Chapter 6

Conclusions

Topic models have been used with great success over the years in organizing large collections of unstructured text allowing people to interact with the data more easily. The applicability is extensive and in multiple areas: analyzing the evolution of topics over time in digital library data [7, 54], the identification of correlated topics [4, 25], modeling authors and their publications [40], or capturing spatial and temporal patterns from blog posts [32, 33]. The advancements in parameter estimation techniques allow topic models to be applied at scale and in online frameworks [19, 20].

Although there is a vast research literature on topic models, the development of such models for short text data is still a relatively new field. Topic models which behave well on normal text collections under-perform on short text items due to a reduced number of observations (i.e.: the words) available for a reliable inference. This causes the models to suffer from sparsity.

In this dissertation this sparsity problem was addressed from two main perspectives. In the first part, we developed models which exploit the context that accompanies certain short text collections. Concretely, we utilized the authors in datasets created from titles of scientific publications, but other useful examples of context include hashtags for twitter data, locations for titles of blog posts or time for headlines of news articles. In the second part, we proposed a more general purpose model which can be used when such contextual information is not available. The model creates and exploits patterns of word co-occurrences. The evaluation

6. CONCLUSIONS

addressed multiple tasks such as topic coherence (i.e.: a measure of topic quality which aims to capture the human interpretability of topics in an automatic fashion), document clustering and document classification. We discuss below, in more details, the main contributions that result from this thesis with direct references to the posed research questions and the chapters which addressed them.

Which class of models benefits more from aggregation in short text data, a mixture or an admixture? Can document aggregation lead to state of the art performance?

In Chapter 3 we explicitly modeled the implicit assumptions of document aggregation, a popular heuristic employed to alleviate sparsity, and applied it to two standard model architectures: a mixture and an admixture. The latter is known to suffer greatly from sparsity, whereas the "one topic assumption" of the former is considered to be a good fit for short text items. The two architectures are also the backbone of a great number of models developed over the years. For evaluation, we created datasets with both very short (i.e.: titles of publications) and medium (i.e.: abstracts) text items, which also had different opportunities for aggregation (a smaller vs. a larger number of documents per context). This allowed us to assess the performance of the models with respect to different text environments and context sizes. Our findings indicate that an admixture model benefits more from aggregation compared to a mixture which rarely improved over its baseline (i.e.: the standard mixture). We also find that the state of the art in short text data can be surpassed as long as every context contains a small number of documents. The findings inform future researchers interested in developing topic models for context accompanied short text data that having at the core of the models the set of assumptions of an admixture has the potential to lead to a better performance compared to developing a model on top of a mixture.

Can short text collections be enhanced such that repeating word co-occurrences have a better chance to arise across the documents more consistently and facilitate a better topic discovery?

In Chapter 4 we introduced a new topic model, which in contrast to our previous approach to alleviate sparsity, can be used when contextual information is not available or it does not help (i.e.: it is shared by documents which have little or no topical relationship). The model proposed was formulated around the observation that in normal text data, a classic model like LDA works well because patterns of word co-occurrences arise across the documents. However, the possibility of such patterns to arise in a short text dataset is reduced. The model assumes every document is a bag of word co-occurrences, where each co-occurrence belongs to a latent topic. The documents were enhanced a priori with related co-occurrences from the other documents, such that the collection had a greater chance of exhibiting word patterns. We evaluated the model on two labeled datasets of tweets and one of titles of scientific publications. The latter is a dataset which we also utilized in Chapter 3 and has contextual information available. The model we proposed performed well managing to surpass the state of the art and popular topic model baselines. The best performing contextual model introduced in Chapter 3 managed to get the best results in this evaluation as well, further strengthening the argument that contextual information is indeed useful when available. Nevertheless, the results showed that novel approaches which focus on modeling word co-occurrences are a promising direction towards a new class of models for short text data.

Can topic models be improved by assuming a more appropriate number of topics for every document?

In Chapter 5 we experimented with a topic model which assumes documents are mixtures of only a subset of the entire topic space. This complements existing work which assumes documents contain either a single topic or a mixture of the entire topic space. The model was built on the observation that the aforementioned assumptions are too extreme. Even if the "one topic per document" assumption performs reasonably well on a short text dataset such as a Twitter collection, there can be many tweets which cover more than one topic. At the same time, even though longer documents tend to cover multiple topics, it is implausible they cover the whole topic space. The evaluation assessed coherence, a measure of topic interpretability, and was performed in varying text environments from very short to medium and longer text. The results, although preliminary, were in accordance with the observations made and indicated a connection between the size of the documents and the performance of the models with respect to the number of topics assumed for every document. The findings from this chapter inform researchers that topic models trained on short text data could obtain a better performance not only by increasing the number of observations, but also by reducing the size of the topic space associated with the documents.

Appendix A

Detailed Proofs for Single-Context Topic Models

Throughout the proofs we make use of a short-hand notation which de-clutters the mathematics. For some K-dimensional vector α , we use the convention $\alpha_0 = \sum_{i=1}^{K} \alpha_i$. We also make a note of the digamma function $\Psi()$ present in many equations - this is the first derivative of the log Γ function and can be computed using a Taylor approximation [1].

A.1 The Single-Context Mixture of Unigrams Model

Equations (A.1), (A.2), (A.3) and (A.4) complete the description of the model from Chapter 3.2.2.

Equation (A.1) represents the probability of the context specific topic proportions in the exponential family form.

$$p(\theta_x|\alpha) = \exp\{\left(\sum_{i=1}^K (\alpha_i - 1)\log\theta_{x,i}\right) + \log\Gamma(\alpha_0) - \sum_{i=1}^K \log\Gamma(\alpha_i)\right\}$$
(A.1)

Equation (A.2) represents the probability of a topic in the exponential family form.

$$p(\beta_i|\eta) = \exp\{\left(\sum_{j=1}^{V} (\eta_j - 1) \log \beta_{i,j}\right) + \log \Gamma(\eta_0) - \sum_{j=1}^{V} \log \Gamma(\eta_j)\}$$
(A.2)

A. DETAILED PROOFS FOR SINGLE-CONTEXT TOPIC MODELS

Equation (A.3) gives the probability of a topic assignment for a document.

$$p(z_d|\theta) = \theta_{c_d, z_d} = \prod_{x, i}^{C, K} \theta_{x, i}^{I(c_d = x)I(z_d = i)}$$
(A.3)

Equation (A.4) gives the probability of a word given the topic assigned to the document it belongs to.

$$p(w_{d,n}|z_d,\beta) = \beta_{z_d,w_{d,n}} = \prod_{i,j}^{K,V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,n}=j)I(z_d=i)}$$
(A.4)

A.1.1 Deriving the Complete Conditionals

In this section we derive the complete conditionals of every latent variable given all the other latent variables and the observations. We are showing that each such conditional is in the exponential family. We further define the variational distributions to have the same form as their corresponding complete conditionals.

In Equation (A.5) we derive the complete conditional associated with the context topic proportions.

$$p(\theta_x|\theta_-, z, \beta, w) \propto p(\theta_x|\alpha)p(z|\theta_x)$$

$$\propto p(\theta_x|\alpha) \prod_{d=1}^M p(z_d|\theta_x)^{I(c_d=x)}$$

$$\propto \prod_{i=1}^K \theta_{x,i}^{\alpha_i-1} \prod_{d,i}^{M,K} \theta_{x,i}^{I(c_d=x)I(z_d=i)}$$

$$\propto \prod_{i=1}^K \theta_{x,i}^{[\alpha_i+\sum_{d=1}^M I(c_d=x)I(z_d=i)]-1}$$

$$= Dir(a), a_i = \alpha_i + \sum_{d=1}^M I(c_d=x)I(z_d=i)$$

$$= \exp\{(\sum_{i=1}^K (a_i - 1)\log \theta_{x,i}) + \log \Gamma(a_0) - \sum_{i=1}^K \log \Gamma(a_i)\}$$
(A.5)

Because the complete conditional of the context topic proportions is a Dirichlet, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Dirichlet as well. Equations (A.6) and (A.7) give the necessary information.

$$q(\theta_x|\gamma_x) = \exp\{(\sum_{i=1}^{K} (\gamma_{x,i} - 1) \log \theta_{x,i}) + \log \Gamma(\gamma_{x,0}) - \sum_{i=1}^{K} \log \Gamma(\gamma_{x,i})\}$$
(A.6)

$$E_q[\log \theta_{x,i}|\gamma_x] = \Psi(\gamma_{x,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{x,0})$$
(A.7)

In Equation (A.8) we derive the complete conditional associated with the topics.

$$p(\beta_{i}|\beta_{-}, z, \theta, w) \propto p(\beta_{i}|\eta)p(w|z, \beta_{i})$$

$$\propto p(\beta_{i}|\eta) \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} p(w_{d,n}|z_{d}, \beta_{i})$$

$$\propto \prod_{j=1}^{V} \beta_{i,j}^{\eta_{j}-1} \prod_{d,n,j}^{M,N_{d},V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,n}=j)I(z_{d}=i)}$$

$$\propto \prod_{j=1}^{V} \beta_{i,j}^{[\eta_{j}+\sum_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} I(w_{d,n}=j)I(z_{d}=i)]-1}$$

$$= Dir(b), b_{j} = \eta_{j} + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} I(w_{d,n}=j)I(z_{d}=i)$$

$$= \exp\{(\sum_{j=1}^{V} (b_{j}-1)\log\beta_{i,j}) + \log\Gamma(b_{0}) - \sum_{j=1}^{V}\log\Gamma(b_{j})\}$$
(A.8)

Because the complete conditional of a topic is a Dirichlet, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Dirichlet as well. Equations (A.9) and (A.10) give the necessary information.

$$q(\beta_i|\lambda_i) = \exp\{\left(\sum_{j=1}^{V} (\lambda_{i,j} - 1)\log\beta_{i,j}\right) + \log\Gamma(\lambda_{i,0}) - \sum_{j=1}^{V}\log\Gamma(\lambda_{i,j})\}$$
(A.9)

$$E_q[\log \beta_{i,j} | \lambda_i] = \Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})$$
(A.10)

In Equation (A.11) we derive the complete conditional associated with the per-

document topic assignments.

$$p(z_{d} = i|z_{-}, \theta, \beta, w) \propto p(z_{d} = i|\theta)p(w|\beta_{i})$$

$$\propto p(z_{d} = i|\theta) \prod_{n=1}^{N_{d}} p(w_{d,n}|\beta_{i})$$

$$\propto \prod_{x=1}^{C} \theta_{x,i}^{I(c_{d}=x)} \prod_{n,j}^{N_{d},V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,n}=j)}$$

$$\propto \theta_{c_{d},i} \prod_{n=1}^{N_{d}} \beta_{i,w_{d,n}}$$

$$\propto \exp\{\log c\}, c = \theta_{c_{d},i} \prod_{n=1}^{N_{d}} \beta_{i,w_{d,n}}$$

$$\propto \exp\{\log \theta_{c_{d},i} + \sum_{n=1}^{N_{d}} \log \beta_{i,w_{d,n}}\}$$
(A.11)

Because the complete conditional of the per-document topic assignment is a Categorical, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Categorical as well. Equation (A.12) gives the necessary information.

$$q(z_d = i | \phi_d) = \phi_{d,i} = \exp\{\log \phi_{d,i}\}$$
(A.12)

A.1.2 Deriving the Update Formulas of the Variational Parameters

The mathematics of the inference are based on the fact that the natural parameters of the variational distributions are equal to the expected value of the natural parameters of the corresponding complete conditionals.

In Equation (A.13) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter

associated with the topics.

$$\lambda_{i,j} - 1 = E_q[b_j - 1]$$

$$\lambda_{i,j} = E_q[b_j] = E_q[\eta_j + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(w_{d,n} = j)I(z_d = i)]$$

$$= \eta_j + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(w_{d,n} = j)E_q[I(z_d = i)]$$

$$= \eta_j + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(w_{d,n} = j)\phi_{d,i}$$
(A.13)

In Equation (A.14) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the context topic proportions.

$$\begin{aligned} \gamma_{x,i} - 1 &= E_q[a_i - 1] \\ \gamma_{x,i} &= E_q[a_i] = E_q[\alpha_i + \sum_{d=1}^M I(c_d = x)I(z_d = i)] \\ &= \alpha_i + \sum_{d=1}^M I(c_d = x)E_q[I(z_d = i)] \\ &= \alpha_i + \sum_{d=1}^M I(c_d = x)\phi_{d,i} \end{aligned}$$
(A.14)

In Equation (A.15) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the per-document topic assignments.

$$\begin{split} \log \phi_{d,i} &\propto E_q[\log c] = E_q[\log(\theta_{c_d,i} \prod_{n=1}^{N_d} \beta_{i,w_{d,n}})] \\ &= E_q[\log(\prod_{x=1}^C \theta_{x,i}^{I(c_d=x)} \prod_{n,j}^{N_d,V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,n}=j)})] \\ &= \sum_{x=1}^C I(c_d=x) E_q[\log \theta_{x,i}] + \sum_{n,j}^{N_d,V} I(w_{d,n}=j) E_q[\log \beta_{i,j}] \\ &= \sum_{x=1}^C I(c_d=i)(\Psi(\gamma_{x,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{x,0})) + \sum_{n,j}^{N_d,V} I(w_{d,n}=j)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})) \\ \phi_{d,i} &\propto \exp\{\sum_{x=1}^C I(c_d=x)(\Psi(\gamma_{x,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{x,0})) + \sum_{n,j}^{N_d,V} I(w_{d,n}=j)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))\} \\ &\qquad (A.15) \end{split}$$

A.1.3 Deriving the Evidence Lower Bound

The ELBO is the objective function which needs to be maximized. The maximization is done using a coordinate ascent algorithm in which the variational parameters are updated iteratively until the ELBO convergences. Monitoring the value of the ELBO is useful for assessing algorithm termination, but also for sanity checks (the ELBO is guaranteed to increase with every iteration).

In Equation (A.16) we expand the lower bound according to the conditional dependencies of the model and those of the variational distribution.

$$\mathcal{L} = E_q[\log p(\theta, \beta, w, z | \alpha, \eta)] - E_q[\log q(\theta, \beta, z | \gamma, \lambda, \phi)]$$

= $E_q[\log p(\theta | \alpha)] + E_q[\log p(\beta | \eta)] + E_q[\log p(z | \theta)] + E_q[\log p(w | z, \beta)]$ (A.16)
 $- E_q[\log q(\theta | \gamma)] - E_q[\log q(\beta | \lambda)] - E_q[\log q(z | \phi)]$

In Equation (A.17) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability of the topic proportions.

$$E_q[\log p(\theta|\alpha)] = E_q[\log \prod_{x=1}^C p(\theta_x|\alpha)]$$

= $E_q[\sum_{x=1}^C \log p(\theta_x|\alpha)]$
= $\sum_{x,i}^{C,K} (\alpha_i - 1)(\Psi(\gamma_{x,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{x,0})) + \sum_{x=1}^C \log \Gamma(\alpha_0) - \sum_{x,i}^{C,K} \log \Gamma(\alpha_i)$
(A.17)

In Equation (A.18) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability of the topics.

$$E_{q}[\log p(\beta|\eta)] = E_{q}[\log \prod_{i=1}^{K} p(\beta_{i}|\eta)]$$

= $E_{q}[\sum_{i=1}^{K} \log p(\beta_{i}|\eta)]$
= $\sum_{i,j}^{K,V} (\eta_{j} - 1)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})) + \sum_{i=1}^{K} \log \Gamma(\eta_{0}) - \sum_{i,j}^{K,V} \log \Gamma(\eta_{j})$
(A.18)

In Equation (A.19) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability of the topic assignments.

$$E_q[\log p(z|\theta)] = E_q[\log \prod_{d=1}^M p(z_d|\theta)]$$

= $E_q[\log \prod_{d=1}^M \theta_{c_d, z_d}]$
= $E_q[\log \prod_{d,x,i}^{M,C,K} \theta_{x,i}^{I(c_d=x)I(z_d=i)}]$
= $\sum_{d,x,i}^{M,C,K} I(c_d=x)\phi_{d,i}(\Psi(\gamma_{x,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{x,0}))$ (A.19)

In Equation (A.20) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability of the words.

$$E_{q}[\log p(w|z,\beta)] = E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} p(w_{d,n}|z_{d},\beta)]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} \beta_{z_{d},w_{d,n}}]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n,i,j}^{M,N_{d},K,V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,n}=j)I(z_{d}=i)}]$$

$$= \sum_{d,n,i,j}^{M,N_{d},K,V} I(w_{d,n}=j)\phi_{d,i}(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))$$
(A.20)

In Equation (A.21) we derive the expectation term that regards the variational distributions of the topic proportions.

$$E_q[\log q(\theta|\gamma)] = E_q[\log \prod_{x=1}^C q(\theta_x|\gamma_x)]$$

= $E_q[\sum_{x=1}^C \log q(\theta_x|\gamma_x)]$
= $\sum_{x,i}^{C,K} (\gamma_{x,i} - 1)(\Psi(\gamma_{x,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{x,0})) + \sum_{x=1}^C \log \Gamma(\gamma_{x,0}) - \sum_{x,i}^{C,K} \log \Gamma(\gamma_{x,i})$
(A.21)

In Equation (A.22) we derive the expectation term that regards the variational

distributions of the topics.

$$E_q[\log q(\beta|\lambda)] = E_q[\log \prod_{i=1}^{K} p(\beta_i|\lambda_i)]$$

= $E_q[\sum_{i=1}^{K} \log q(\beta_i|\lambda_i)]$
= $\sum_{i,j}^{K,V} (\lambda_{i,j} - 1)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})) + \sum_{i=1}^{K} \log \Gamma(\lambda_{i,0}) - \sum_{i,j}^{K,V} \log \Gamma(\lambda_{i,j})$
(A.22)

In Equation (A.23) we derive the expectation term that regards the variational distributions of the topic assignments.

$$E_q[\log q(z|\phi)] = E_q[\log \prod_{d=1}^M q(z_d|\phi_d)]$$

= $E_q[\log \prod_{d=1}^M \phi_{d,z_d}]$
= $E_q[\log \prod_{d,i}^{M,K} \phi_{d,i}^{I(z_d=i)}]$
= $\sum_{d,i}^{M,K} \phi_{d,i} \log \phi_{d,i}$ (A.23)

A.2 The Single-Context Latent Dirichlet Allocation Model

Equations (A.24), (A.25), (A.26) and (A.27) complete the description of the model from Chapter 3.2.1.

Equation (A.24) represents the probability of the context specific topic proportions in the exponential family form.

$$p(\theta_x|\alpha) = \exp\{\left(\sum_{i=1}^K (\alpha_i - 1)\log\theta_{x,i}\right) + \log\Gamma(\alpha_0) - \sum_{i=1}^K \log\Gamma(\alpha_i)\right\}$$
(A.24)

Equation (A.25) represents the probability of a topic in the exponential family

form.

$$p(\beta_i|\eta) = \exp\{(\sum_{j=1}^{V} (\eta_j - 1)\log\beta_{i,j}) + \log\Gamma(\eta_0) - \sum_{j=1}^{V}\log\Gamma(\eta_j)\}$$
(A.25)

Equation (A.26) gives the probability of a topic assignment for a word.

$$p(z_{d,n}|\theta) = \theta_{c_d, z_{d,n}} = \prod_{x,i}^{C,K} \theta_{x,i}^{I(c_d=x)I(z_{d,n}=i)}$$
(A.26)

Equation (A.27) gives the probability of a word given its assigned topic.

$$p(w_{d,n}|z_{d,n},\beta) = \beta_{z_{d,n},w_{d,n}} = \prod_{i,j}^{K,V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,n}=j)I(z_{d,n}=i)}$$
(A.27)

A.2.1 Deriving the Complete Conditionals

In this section we derive the complete conditionals of every latent variable given all the other latent variables and the observations. We are showing that each such conditional is in the exponential family. We further define the variational distributions to have the same form as their corresponding complete conditionals.

In Equation (A.28) we derive the complete conditional associated with the percontext topic proportions.

$$p(\theta_{x}|\theta_{-}, z, \beta, w) \propto p(\theta_{x}|\alpha)p(z|\theta_{x})$$

$$\propto p(\theta_{x}|\alpha) \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} p(z_{d,n}|\theta_{x})^{I(c_{d}=x)}$$

$$\propto \prod_{i=1}^{K} \theta_{x,i}^{\alpha_{i}-1} \prod_{d,n,i}^{M,N_{d},K} \theta_{x,i}^{I(c_{d}=x)I(z_{d,n}=i)}$$

$$\propto \prod_{i=1}^{K} \theta_{x,i}^{[\alpha_{i}+\sum_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} I(c_{d}=x)I(z_{d,n}=i)]-1}$$

$$= Dir(a), a_{i} = \alpha_{i} + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} I(c_{d}=x)I(z_{d,n}=i)$$

$$= \exp\{(\sum_{i=1}^{K} (a_{i}-1)\log\theta_{x,i}) + \log\Gamma(a_{0}) - \sum_{i=1}^{K}\log\Gamma(a_{i}))\}$$
(A.28)

Because the complete conditional of the per-context topic proportions is a Dirich-

A. DETAILED PROOFS FOR SINGLE-CONTEXT TOPIC MODELS

let, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Dirichlet as well. Equations (A.29) and (A.30) give the necessary information.

$$q(\theta_x|\gamma_x) = \exp\{\left(\sum_{i=1}^K (\gamma_{x,i} - 1)\log\theta_{x,i}\right) + \log\Gamma(\gamma_{x,0}) - \sum_{i=1}^K \log\Gamma(\gamma_{x,i})\right\}$$
(A.29)

$$E_q[\log \theta_{x,i}|\gamma_x] = \Psi(\gamma_{x,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{x,0})$$
(A.30)

In Equation (A.31) we derive the complete conditional associated with the topics.

$$p(\beta_{i}|\beta_{-}, z, \theta, w) \propto p(\beta_{i}|\eta)p(w|z, \beta_{i})$$

$$\propto p(\beta_{i}|\eta) \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} p(w_{d,n}|z_{d,n}, \beta_{i})$$

$$\propto \prod_{j=1}^{V} \beta_{i,j}^{\eta_{j}-1} \prod_{d,n,j}^{M,N_{d},V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,n}=j)I(z_{d,n}=i)}$$

$$\propto \prod_{j=1}^{V} \beta_{i,j}^{[\eta_{j}+\sum_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} I(w_{d,n}=j)I(z_{d,n}=i)]-1}$$

$$= Dir(b), b_{j} = \eta_{j} + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} I(w_{d,n}=j)I(z_{d,n}=i)$$

$$= \exp\{(\sum_{j=1}^{V} (b_{j}-1)\log\beta_{i,j}) + \log\Gamma(b_{0}) - \sum_{j=1}^{V} \log\Gamma(b_{j})\}$$
(A.31)

Because the complete conditional of a topic is a Dirichlet, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Dirichlet as well. Equations (A.32) and (A.33) give the necessary information.

$$q(\beta_i|\lambda_i) = \exp\{\left(\sum_{j=1}^{V} (\lambda_{i,j} - 1)\log\beta_{i,j}\right) + \log\Gamma(\lambda_{i,0}) - \sum_{j=1}^{V}\log\Gamma(\lambda_{i,j})\right\}$$
(A.32)

$$E_q[\log \beta_{i,j} | \lambda_i] = \Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})$$
(A.33)

In Equation (A.34) we derive the complete conditional associated with the per

word topic assignments.

$$p(z_{d,n} = i|z_{-}, \theta, \beta, w) \propto p(z_{d,n} = i|\theta)p(w_{d,n}|\beta_i)$$

$$\propto \prod_{x=1}^{C} \theta_{x,i}^{I(c_d = x)} \prod_{j=1}^{V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,n} = j)}$$

$$\propto \theta_{c_d,i}\beta_{i,w_{d,n}}$$

$$\propto \exp\{\log c\}, c = \theta_{c_d,i}\beta_{i,w_{d,n}}$$

$$\propto \exp\{\log \theta_{c_d,i} + \log \beta_{i,w_{d,n}}\}$$
(A.34)

Because the complete conditional of the per-word topic assignment is a Categorical, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Categorical as well. Equation (A.35) gives the necessary information.

$$q(z_{d,n} = i | \phi_{d,n}) = \phi_{d,n,i} = \exp\{\log \phi_{d,n,i}\}$$
(A.35)

A.2.2 Deriving the Update Formulas of the Variational Parameters

The mathematics of the inference are based on the fact that the natural parameters of the variational distributions are equal to the expected value of the natural parameters of the corresponding complete conditionals.

In Equation (A.36) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the topics.

$$\lambda_{i,j} - 1 = E_q[b_j - 1]$$

$$\lambda_{i,j} = E_q[b_j] = E_q[\eta_j + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(w_{d,n} = j)I(z_{d,n} = i)]$$

$$= \eta_j + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(w_{d,n} = j)E_q[I(z_{d,n} = i)]$$

$$= \eta_j + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(w_{d,n} = j)\phi_{d,n,i}$$
(A.36)

In Equation (A.37) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter

A. DETAILED PROOFS FOR SINGLE-CONTEXT TOPIC MODELS

associated with the per-context topic proportions.

$$\gamma_{x,i} - 1 = E_q[a_i - 1]$$

$$\gamma_{x,i} = E_q[a_i] = E_q[\alpha_i + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(c_d = x)I(z_{d,n} = i)]$$

$$= \alpha_i + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(c_d = x)E_q[I(z_{d,n} = i)]$$

$$= \alpha_i + \sum_{d,n}^{M,N_d} I(c_d = x)\phi_{d,n,i}$$
(A.37)

In Equation (A.38) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the per-document topic assignments.

$$\log \phi_{d,n,i} \propto E_q[\log c] = E_q[\log(\theta_{c_d,i}\beta_{i,w_{d,n}})]$$

$$= E_q[\log(\prod_{x=1}^C \theta_{x,i}^{I(c_d=x)} \prod_{j=1}^V \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,n}=j)})]$$

$$= \sum_{x=1}^C I(c_d=x)E_q[\log \theta_{x,i}] + \sum_{j=1}^V I(w_{d,n}=j)E_q[\log \beta_{i,j}]$$

$$= \sum_{x=1}^C I(c_d=x)(\Psi(\gamma_{x,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{x,0})) + \sum_{j=1}^V I(w_{d,n}=j)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))$$

$$\phi_{d,n,i} \propto \exp\{\sum_{x=1}^C I(c_d=x)(\Psi(\gamma_{x,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{x,0})) + \sum_{j=1}^V I(w_{d,n}=j)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))\}$$
(A.38)

A.2.3 Deriving the Evidence Lower Bound

The ELBO is the objective function which needs to be maximized. The maximization is done using a coordinate ascent algorithm in which the variational parameters are updated iteratively until the ELBO convergences. Monitoring the value of the ELBO is useful for assessing algorithm termination, but also for sanity checks (the ELBO is guaranteed to increase with every iteration).

In Equation (A.39) we expand the lower bound according to the conditional

dependencies of the model and those of the variational distribution.

$$\mathcal{L} = E_q[\log p(\theta, \beta, w, z | \alpha, \eta)] - E_q[\log q(\theta, \beta, z | \gamma, \lambda, \phi)]$$

= $E_q[\log p(\theta | \alpha)] + E_q[\log p(\beta | \eta)] + E_q[\log p(z | \theta)] + E_q[\log p(w | z, \beta)]$ (A.39)
 $- E_q[\log q(\theta | \gamma)] - E_q[\log q(\beta | \lambda)] - E_q[\log q(z | \phi)]$

In Equation (A.40) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability of the topic proportions.

$$E_q[\log p(\theta|\alpha)] = E_q[\log \prod_{x=1}^C p(\theta_x|\alpha)]$$

= $E_q[\sum_{x=1}^C \log p(\theta_x|\alpha)]$
= $\sum_{x,i}^{C,K} (\alpha_i - 1)(\Psi(\gamma_{x,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{x,0})) + \sum_{x=1}^C \log \Gamma(\alpha_0) - \sum_{x,i}^{C,K} \log \Gamma(\alpha_i)$
(A.40)

In Equation (A.41) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability of the topics.

$$E_{q}[\log p(\beta|\eta)] = E_{q}[\log \prod_{i=1}^{K} p(\beta_{i}|\eta)]$$

= $E_{q}[\sum_{i=1}^{K} \log p(\beta_{i}|\eta)]$
= $\sum_{i,j}^{K,V} (\eta_{j} - 1)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})) + \sum_{i=1}^{K} \log \Gamma(\eta_{0}) - \sum_{i,j}^{K,V} \log \Gamma(\eta_{j})$
(A.41)

In Equation (A.42) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability

of the topic assignments.

$$E_{q}[\log p(z|\theta)] = E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} p(z_{d,n}|\theta)]$$

= $E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} \theta_{c_{d},z_{d,n}}]$
= $E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n,x,i}^{M,N_{d},C,K} \theta_{x,i}^{I(c_{d}=x)I(z_{d,n}=i)}]$
= $\sum_{d,n,x,i}^{M,N_{d},C,K} I(c_{d}=x)\phi_{d,n,i}(\Psi(\gamma_{x,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{x,0}))$ (A.42)

In Equation (A.43) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability of the words.

$$E_{q}[\log p(w|z,\beta)] = E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} p(w_{d,n}|z_{d,n},\beta)]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} \beta_{z_{d,n},w_{d,n}}]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n,i,j}^{M,N_{d}} K, V \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,n}=j)I(z_{d,n}=i)}]$$

$$= \sum_{d,n,i,j}^{M,N_{d},K,V} I(w_{d,n}=j)\phi_{d,n,i}(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))$$
(A.43)

In Equation (A.44) we derive the expectation term that regards the variational distributions of the topic proportions.

$$E_q[\log q(\theta|\gamma)] = E_q[\log \prod_{x=1}^C q(\theta_x|\gamma_x)]$$

= $E_q[\sum_{x=1}^C \log q(\theta_x|\gamma_x)]$
= $\sum_{x,i}^{C,K} (\gamma_{x,i} - 1)(\Psi(\gamma_{x,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{x,0})) + \sum_{x=1}^C \log \Gamma(\gamma_{x,0}) - \sum_{x,i}^{C,K} \log \Gamma(\gamma_{x,i})$
(A.44)

In Equation (A.45) we derive the expectation term that regards the variational
distributions of the topics.

$$E_q[\log q(\beta|\lambda)] = E_q[\log \prod_{i=1}^{K} q(\beta_i|\lambda_i)]$$

= $E_q[\sum_{i=1}^{K} \log q(\beta_i|\lambda_i)]$
= $\sum_{i,j}^{K,V} (\lambda_{i,j} - 1)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})) + \sum_{i=1}^{K} \log \Gamma(\lambda_{i,0}) - \sum_{i,j}^{K,V} \log \Gamma(\lambda_{i,j})$
(A.45)

In Equation (A.46) we derive the expectation term that regards the variational distributions of the topic assignments.

$$E_{q}[\log q(z|\phi)] = E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} q(z_{d,n}|\phi_{d,n})]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} \phi_{d,n,z_{d,n}}]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n,i}^{M,N_{d},K} \phi_{d,n,i}^{I(z_{d,n}=i)}]$$

$$= \sum_{d,n,i}^{M,N_{d},K} \phi_{d,n,i} \log \phi_{d,n,i}$$
(A.46)

A. DETAILED PROOFS FOR SINGLE-CONTEXT TOPIC MODELS

Appendix B

Detailed Proofs for the Co-occurrence Topic Model

Throughout the proof, we make use of a short-hand notation which de-clutters the mathematics. For some K-dimensional vector α , we use the convention $\alpha_0 = \sum_{i=1}^{K} \alpha_i$. We also make a note of the digamma function $\Psi()$ present in many equations - this is the first derivative of the log Γ function and can be computed using a Taylor approximation [1].

Equations (B.1), (B.2), (B.3) and (B.4) complete the description of the model from Chapter 4.2.

Equation (B.1) represents the probability of the document-level topic proportions in the exponential family form.

$$p(\theta_d|\alpha) = \exp\{\left(\sum_{i=1}^K (\alpha_i - 1)\log\theta_{d,i}\right) + \log\Gamma(\alpha_0) - \sum_{i=1}^K \log\Gamma(\alpha_i)\right\}$$
(B.1)

Equation (B.2) represents the probability of a topic in the exponential family form.

$$p(\beta_i|\eta) = \exp\{\left(\sum_{j=1}^{V} (\eta_j - 1) \log \beta_{i,j}\right) + \log \Gamma(\eta_0) - \sum_{j=1}^{V} \log \Gamma(\eta_j)\}$$
(B.2)

Equation (B.3) gives the probability of a topic assignment to a word co-occurrence.

$$p(z_{d,p}|\theta_d) = \theta_{d,z_{d,p}} = \prod_{i=1}^{K} \theta_{d,i}^{I(z_{d,p}=i)}$$
(B.3)

Equation (B.4) gives the probability of a word given the topic assigned to the co-occurrence set it is part of.

$$p(w_{d,p,n}|z_{d,p},\beta) = \beta_{z_{d,p},w_{d,p,n}} = \prod_{i,j}^{K,V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,p,n}=j)I(z_{d,p}=i)}$$
(B.4)

B.1 Deriving the Complete Conditionals

In this section we derive the complete conditionals of every latent variable given all the other latent variables and the observations. We are showing that each such conditional is in the exponential family. We further define the variational distributions to have the same form as their corresponding complete conditionals.

In Equation (B.5) we derive the complete conditional associated with the document topic proportions.

$$p(\theta_d | \theta_-, z, \beta, w) \propto p(\theta_d | \alpha) p(z | \theta_d)$$

$$\propto p(\theta_d | \alpha) \prod_{p=1}^{N_d} p(z_{d,p} | \theta_d)$$

$$\propto \prod_{i=1}^{K} \theta_{d,i}^{\alpha_i - 1} \prod_{p,i}^{N_d, K} \theta_{d,i}^{I(z_{d,p} = i)}$$

$$\propto \prod_{i=1}^{K} \theta_{d,i}^{[\alpha_i + \sum_{p=1}^{N_d} I(z_{d,p} = i)] - 1}$$

$$= Dir(a), a_i = \alpha_i + \sum_{p=1}^{N_d} I(z_{d,p} = i)$$

$$= \exp\{(\sum_{i=1}^{K} (a_i - 1) \log \theta_{d,i}) + \log \Gamma(a_0) - \sum_{i=1}^{K} \log \Gamma(a_i)\}$$
(B.5)

Because the complete conditional of the document topic proportions is a Dirichlet, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Dirichlet as well. Equations (B.6) and (B.7) give the necessary information.

$$q(\theta_d | \gamma_d) = \exp\{(\sum_{i=1}^{K} (\gamma_{d,i} - 1) \log \theta_{d,i}) + \log \Gamma(\gamma_{d,0}) - \sum_{i=1}^{K} \log \Gamma(\gamma_{d,i})\}$$
(B.6)

$$E_q[\log \theta_{d,i}|\gamma_d] = \Psi(\gamma_{d,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0}) \tag{B.7}$$

In Equation (B.8) we derive the complete conditional associated with the topics.

$$p(\beta_{i}|\beta_{-}, z, \theta, w) \propto p(\beta_{i}|\eta)p(w|z, \beta_{i})$$

$$\propto p(\beta_{i}|\eta) \prod_{d,p,n}^{M,N_{d},N_{d,p}} p(w_{d,p,n}|z_{d,p}, \beta_{i})$$

$$\propto \prod_{j=1}^{V} \beta_{i,j}^{\eta_{j}-1} \prod_{d,n,p,j}^{M,N_{d},N_{d,p},V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,p,n}=j)I(z_{d,p}=i)}$$

$$\propto \prod_{j=1}^{V} \beta_{i,j}^{[\eta_{j}+\sum_{d,p,n}^{M,N_{d},N_{d,p}}I(w_{d,p,n}=j)I(z_{d,p}=i)]-1}$$

$$= Dir(b), b_{j} = \eta_{j} + \sum_{d,p,n}^{M,N_{d},N_{d,p}}I(w_{d,p,n}=j)I(z_{d,p}=i)$$

$$= \exp\{(\sum_{j=1}^{V} (b_{j}-1)\log\beta_{i,j}) + \log\Gamma(b_{0}) - \sum_{j=1}^{V}\log\Gamma(b_{j})\}$$
(B.8)

Because the complete conditional of a topic is a Dirichlet, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Dirichlet as well. Equations (B.9) and (B.10) give the necessary information.

$$q(\beta_i|\lambda_i) = \exp\{\left(\sum_{j=1}^V (\lambda_{i,j} - 1)\log\beta_{i,j}\right) + \log\Gamma(\lambda_{i,0}) - \sum_{j=1}^V \log\Gamma(\lambda_{i,j})\right\}$$
(B.9)

$$E_q[\log \beta_{i,j} | \lambda_i] = \Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})$$
(B.10)

In Equation (B.11) we derive the complete conditional associated with the per

B. DETAILED PROOFS FOR THE CO-OCCURRENCE TOPIC MODEL

word co-occurrence topic assignments.

$$p(z_{d,p} = i|z_{-}, \theta, \beta, w) \propto p(z_{d,p} = i|\theta_{d})p(w|\beta_{i})$$

$$\propto p(z_{d,p} = i|\theta_{d}) \prod_{n=1}^{N_{d,p}} p(w_{d,p,n}|\beta_{i})$$

$$\propto \theta_{d,i} \prod_{n,j}^{N_{d,p},V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,p,n}=j)}$$

$$\propto \theta_{d,i} \prod_{n=1}^{N_{d,p}} \beta_{i,w_{d,p,n}}$$

$$\propto \exp\{\log c\}, c = \theta_{d,i} \prod_{n=1}^{N_{d,p}} \beta_{i,w_{d,p,n}}$$

$$\propto \exp\{\log \theta_{d,i} + \sum_{n=1}^{N_{d,p}} \log \beta_{i,w_{d,p,n}}\}$$
(B.11)

Because the complete conditional of the per word co-occurrence topic assignment is a Categorical, the corresponding variational distribution is going to be a Categorical as well. Equation (B.12) gives the necessary information.

$$q(z_{d,p} = i | \phi_{d,p}) = \phi_{d,p,i} = \exp\{\log \phi_{d,p,i}\}$$
(B.12)

B.2 Deriving the Update Formulas of the Variational Parameters

The mathematics of the inference are based on the fact that the natural parameters of the variational distributions are equal to the expected value of the natural parameters of the corresponding complete conditionals.

In Equation (B.13) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter

associated with the topics.

$$\lambda_{i,j} - 1 = E_q[b_j - 1]$$

$$\lambda_{i,j} = E_q[b_j] = E_q[\eta_j + \sum_{d,p,n}^{M,N_d,N_{d,p}} I(w_{d,p,n} = j)I(z_{d,p} = i)]$$

$$= \eta_j + \sum_{d,p,n}^{M,N_d,N_{d,p}} I(w_{d,p,n} = j)E_q[I(z_{d,p} = i)]$$

$$= \eta_j + \sum_{d,p,n}^{M,N_d,N_{d,p}} I(w_{d,p,n} = j)\phi_{d,p,i}$$
(B.13)

In Equation (B.14) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the document topic proportions.

$$\gamma_{d,i} - 1 = E_q[a_i - 1]$$

$$\gamma_{d,i} = E_q[a_i] = E_q[\alpha_i + \sum_{p=1}^{N_d} I(z_{d,p} = i)]$$

$$= \alpha_i + \sum_{p=1}^{N_d} E_q[I(z_{d,p} = i)]$$

$$= \alpha_i + \sum_{p=1}^{N_d} \phi_{d,p,i}$$

(B.14)

In Equation (B.15) we derive the update formula of the variational parameter associated with the per word co-occurrence topic assignments.

$$\log \phi_{d,p,i} \propto E_{q}[\log c] = E_{q}[\log(\theta_{d,i} \prod_{n=1}^{N_{d,p}} \beta_{i,w_{d,p,n}})]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log(\theta_{d,i} \prod_{n,j}^{N_{d,p},V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,p,n}=j)})]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \theta_{d,i}] + \sum_{n,j}^{N_{d,p},V} I(w_{d,p,n}=j)E_{q}[\log \beta_{i,j}]$$

$$= \Psi(\gamma_{d,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0}) + \sum_{n,j}^{N_{d,p},V} I(w_{d,p,n}=j)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))$$

$$\phi_{d,p,i} \propto \exp\{\Psi(\gamma_{d,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0}) + \sum_{n,j}^{N_{d,p},V} I(w_{d,p,n}=j)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))\}$$

B.3 Deriving the Evidence Lower Bound

The ELBO is the objective function which needs to be maximized. The maximization is done using a coordinate ascent algorithm in which the variational parameters are updated iteratively until the ELBO convergences. Monitoring the value of the ELBO is useful for assessing algorithm termination, but also for sanity checks (the ELBO is guaranteed to increase with every iteration).

In Equation (B.16) we expand the lower bound according to the conditional dependencies of the model and those of the variational distribution.

$$\mathcal{L} = E_q[\log p(\theta, \beta, w, z | \alpha, \eta)] - E_q[\log q(\theta, \beta, z | \gamma, \lambda, \phi)]$$

= $E_q[\log p(\theta | \alpha)] + E_q[\log p(\beta | \eta)] + E_q[\log p(z | \theta)] + E_q[\log p(w | z, \beta)]$ (B.16)
 $- E_q[\log q(\theta | \gamma)] - E_q[\log q(\beta | \lambda)] - E_q[\log q(z | \phi)]$

In Equation (B.17) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability of the topic proportions.

$$E_q[\log p(\theta|\alpha)] = E_q[\log \prod_{d=1}^M p(\theta_d|\alpha)]$$

= $E_q[\sum_{d=1}^M \log p(\theta_d|\alpha)]$
= $\sum_{d,i}^{M,K} (\alpha_i - 1)(\Psi(\gamma_{d,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0})) + \sum_{d=1}^M \log \Gamma(\alpha_0) - \sum_{d,i}^{M,K} \log \Gamma(\alpha_i)$
(B.17)

In Equation (B.18) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability

of the topics.

$$E_{q}[\log p(\beta|\eta)] = E_{q}[\log \prod_{i=1}^{K} p(\beta_{i}|\eta)]$$

= $E_{q}[\sum_{i=1}^{K} \log p(\beta_{i}|\eta)]$
= $\sum_{i,j}^{K,V} (\eta_{j} - 1)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})) + \sum_{i=1}^{K} \log \Gamma(\eta_{0}) - \sum_{i,j}^{K,V} \log \Gamma(\eta_{j})$
(B.18)

In Equation (B.19) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability of the topic assignments.

$$E_{q}[\log p(z|\theta)] = E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,p}^{M,N_{d}} p(z_{d,p}|\theta_{d})]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,p}^{M,N_{d}} \theta_{d,z_{d,p}}]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,p,i}^{M,N_{d},K} \theta_{d,i}^{I(z_{d,p}=i)}]$$

$$= \sum_{d,p,i}^{M,N_{d},K} \phi_{d,p,i}(\Psi(\gamma_{d,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0}))$$
(B.19)

In Equation (B.20) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability of the words.

$$E_{q}[\log p(w|z,\beta)] = E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,p,n}^{M,N_{d},N_{d,p}} p(w_{d,p,n}|z_{d,p},\beta)]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,p,n}^{M,N_{d},N_{d,p}} \beta_{z_{d,p},w_{d,p,n}}]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,p,n,i,j}^{M,N_{d},N_{d,p},K,V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,p,n}=j)I(z_{d,p}=i)}]$$

$$= \sum_{d,p,n,i,j}^{M,N_{d},N_{d,p},K,V} I(w_{d,p,n}=j)\phi_{d,p,i}(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))$$
(B.20)

In Equation (B.21) we derive the expectation term that regards the variational

B. DETAILED PROOFS FOR THE CO-OCCURRENCE TOPIC MODEL

distributions of the topic proportions.

$$E_q[\log q(\theta|\gamma)] = E_q[\log \prod_{d=1}^M q(\theta_d|\gamma_d)]$$

= $E_q[\sum_{d=1}^M \log q(\theta_d|\gamma_d)]$
= $\sum_{d,i}^{M,K} (\gamma_{d,i} - 1)(\Psi(\gamma_{d,i}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0})) + \sum_{d=1}^M \log \Gamma(\gamma_{d,0}) - \sum_{d,i}^{M,K} \log \Gamma(\gamma_{d,i})$
(B.21)

In Equation (B.22) we derive the expectation term that regards the variational distributions of the topics.

$$E_q[\log q(\beta|\lambda)] = E_q[\log \prod_{i=1}^{K} p(\beta_i|\lambda_i)]$$

= $E_q[\sum_{i=1}^{K} \log q(\beta_i|\lambda_i)]$
= $\sum_{i,j}^{K,V} (\lambda_{i,j} - 1)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})) + \sum_{i=1}^{K} \log \Gamma(\lambda_{i,0}) - \sum_{i,j}^{K,V} \log \Gamma(\lambda_{i,j})$
(B.22)

In Equation (B.23) we derive the expectation term that regards the variational distributions of the topic assignments.

$$E_{q}[\log q(z|\phi)] = E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,p}^{M,N_{d}} q(z_{d,p}|\phi_{d,p})]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,p}^{M,N_{d}} \phi_{d,p,z_{d,p}}]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,p,i}^{M,N_{d},K} \phi_{d,p,i}^{I(z_{d,p}=i)}]$$

$$= \sum_{d,p,i}^{M,N_{d},K} \phi_{d,p,i} \log \phi_{d,p,i}$$
(B.23)

Appendix C

Detailed Proofs for the Subset Topic Model

Throughout the proof, we make use of a short-hand notation which de-clutters the mathematics. For some K-dimensional vector α , we use the convention $\alpha_0 = \sum_{i=1}^{K} \alpha_i$. We also make a note of the digamma function $\Psi()$ present in many equations - this is the first derivative of the log Γ function and can be computed using a Taylor approximation [1].

Equations (C.1), (C.2), (C.3), (C.4), (C.5) and (C.6) complete the description of the model from Chapter 5.2.

Equation (C.1) represents the probability of the subset proportions in the exponential family form.

$$p(\pi|\delta) = \exp\{\left(\sum_{x=1}^{S} (\delta_x - 1) \log \pi_x\right) + \log \Gamma(\delta_0) - \sum_{x=1}^{S} \log \Gamma(\delta_x)\right\}$$
(C.1)

Equation (C.2) represents the probability of a topic in the exponential family form.

$$p(\beta_i|\eta) = \exp\{(\sum_{j=1}^{V} (\eta_j - 1)\log\beta_{i,j}) + \log\Gamma(\eta_0) - \sum_{j=1}^{V}\log\Gamma(\eta_j)\}$$
(C.2)

Equation (C.3) represents the probability of the proportions over the indexes of

a subset's elements in the exponential family form.

$$p(\theta_d|\alpha) = \exp\{\left(\sum_{p=1}^T (\alpha_p - 1)\log\theta_{d,p}\right) + \log\Gamma(\alpha_0) - \sum_{p=1}^T \log\Gamma(\alpha_p)\right\}$$
(C.3)

Equation (C.4) gives the probability of assigning the index of a subset's element to a word.

$$p(z_{d,n}|\theta_d) = \theta_{d,z_{d,n}} = \prod_{p=1}^T \theta_{d,p}^{I(z_{d,n}=p)}$$
(C.4)

Equation (C.5) gives the probability of a subset assignment to a document.

$$p(t_d|\pi) = \pi_{t_d} = \prod_{x=1}^{S} \pi_x^{I(t_d=x)}$$
(C.5)

Equation (C.6) gives the probability of a word given the index of subset's element and the subset associated with the document.

$$p(w_{d,n}|z_{d,n},\beta,t_d) = \beta_{t_d.z_{d,n},w_{d,n}} = \prod_{x,p,i,j}^{S,T,K,V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,n}=j)I(z_{d,n}=p)I(t_d=x)I(x.p=i)}$$
(C.6)

Equations (C.7), (C.9), (C.11), (C.13) and (C.15) define the variational distributions used in the posterior approximation. Equations (C.8), (C.10), (C.12), (C.14) and (C.16) give some necessary expectations for the proof. The expectation terms from (C.8), (C.10) and (C.12) are obtained based on the observation that the first derivative of the log normalizer is equal to the expected value of the sufficient statistics, while the ones from (C.14) and (C.16) result from the fact that the expected value of the indicator of a variable taking on a particular setting is the probability of the variable being in that setting.

Equation (C.7) represents the variational distribution of the subset proportions in the exponential family form.

$$q(\pi|\mu) = Dir(\mu) = \exp\{\left(\sum_{x=1}^{S} (\mu_x - 1)\log \pi_x\right) + \log \Gamma(\mu_0) - \sum_{x=1}^{S} \log \Gamma(\mu_x)\} \quad (C.7)$$

$$E_q[\log \pi_x | \mu] = \Psi(\mu_x) - \Psi(\mu_0) \tag{C.8}$$

Equation (C.9) represents the variational distribution of a topic in the exponential family form.

$$q(\beta_i|\lambda_i) = Dir(\lambda_i) = \exp\{\left(\sum_{j=1}^{V} (\lambda_{i,j} - 1)\log\beta_{i,j}\right) + \log\Gamma(\lambda_{i,0}) - \sum_{j=1}^{V} \log\Gamma(\lambda_{i,j})\}$$
(C.9)

$$E_q[\log \beta_{i,j} | \lambda_i] = \Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})$$
(C.10)

Equation (C.11) represents the variational distribution of the proportions over the indexes of a subset's elements in the exponential family form.

$$q(\theta_d|\gamma_d) = Dir(\gamma_d) = \exp\{\left(\sum_{p=1}^T (\gamma_{d,p} - 1)\log\theta_{d,p}\right) + \log\Gamma(\gamma_{d,0}) - \sum_{p=1}^T \log\Gamma(\gamma_{d,p})\right\}$$
(C.11)

$$E_q[\log \theta_{d,p}|\gamma_d] = \Psi(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0})$$
(C.12)

Equation (C.13) gives the variational distribution of the assignment of an index of a subset's element to a word.

$$q(z_{d,n}|\phi_{d,n}) = Cat(\phi_{d,n}) = \phi_{d,n,z_{d,n}} = \prod_{p=1}^{T} \phi_{d,n,p}^{I(z_{d,n}=p)}$$
(C.13)

$$E_q[I(z_{d,n}=i)] = q(z_{d,n}=i|\phi_{d,n}) = \phi_{d,n,i}$$
(C.14)

Equation (C.15) gives the variational distribution of a subset assignment to a document.

$$q(t_d|\zeta_d) = Cat(\zeta_d) = \zeta_{d,t_d} = \prod_{x=1}^{S} \zeta_{d,x}^{I(t_d=x)}$$
(C.15)

$$E_q[I(t_d = x)] = q(t_d = x | \zeta_d) = \zeta_{d,x}$$
(C.16)

C.1 Deriving the Evidence Lower Bound

The ELBO is the objective function which needs to be maximized. The maximization is done using a coordinate ascent algorithm in which the variational parameters are updated iteratively until the ELBO convergences. Monitoring the value of the ELBO is useful for assessing algorithm termination, but also for sanity checks (the ELBO is guaranteed to increase with every iteration).

In Equation (C.17) we expand the lower bound according to the conditional dependencies of the model and those of the variational distribution.

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L} &= E_q[\log p(\theta, \beta, \pi, w, z, t | \alpha, \eta, \delta)] - E_q[\log q(\theta, \beta, \pi, z, t | \gamma, \lambda, \mu, \phi, \zeta)] \\ &= E_q[\log p(\pi | \delta)] + E_q[\log p(\theta | \alpha)] + E_q[\log p(\beta | \eta)] + E_q[\log p(z | \theta)] + \\ &+ E_q[\log p(t | \pi)] + E_q[\log p(w | z, t, \beta)] - E_q[\log q(\theta | \gamma)] - \\ &- E_q[\log q(\beta | \lambda)] - E_q[\log q(\pi | \mu)] - E_q[\log q(z | \phi)] - E_q[\log q(t | \zeta)] \end{aligned}$$
(C.17)

In Equation (C.18) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability of the proportions over the indexes of a subset's elements.

$$E_q[\log p(\theta|\alpha)] = E_q[\log \prod_{d=1}^M p(\theta_d|\alpha)]$$

= $E_q[\sum_{d=1}^M \log p(\theta_d|\alpha)]$
= $\sum_{d,p}^{M,T} (\alpha_p - 1)(\Psi(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0})) + \sum_{d=1}^M \log \Gamma(\alpha_0) - \sum_{d,p}^{M,T} \log \Gamma(\alpha_p)$
(C.18)

In Equation (C.19) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability

of the topics.

$$E_{q}[\log p(\beta|\eta)] = E_{q}[\log \prod_{i=1}^{K} p(\beta_{i}|\eta)]$$

= $E_{q}[\sum_{i=1}^{K} \log p(\beta_{i}|\eta)]$
= $\sum_{i,j}^{K,V} (\eta_{j} - 1)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})) + \sum_{i=1}^{K} \log \Gamma(\eta_{0}) - \sum_{i,j}^{K,V} \log \Gamma(\eta_{j})$
(C.19)

In Equation (C.20) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability of the proportions over the subsets.

$$E_q[\log p(\pi|\delta)] = \sum_{x=1}^{S} (\delta_x - 1)(\Psi(\mu_x) - \Psi(\mu_0)) + \log \Gamma(\delta_0) - \sum_{x=1}^{S} \log \Gamma(\delta_x)$$
 (C.20)

In Equation (C.21) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability of assigning the index of a subset's element to every word.

$$E_q[\log p(z|\theta)] = E_q[\log \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_d} p(z_{d,n}|\theta_d)]$$

= $E_q[\log \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_d} \theta_{d,z_{d,n}}]$
= $E_q[\log \prod_{d,n,p}^{M,N_d,T} \theta_{d,p}^{I(z_{d,n}=p)}]$
= $\sum_{d,n,p}^{M,N_d,T} \phi_{d,n,p}(\Psi(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0}))$ (C.21)

In Equation (C.22) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability

of assigning a subset to every document.

$$E_{q}[\log p(t|\pi)] = E_{q}[\log \prod_{d=1}^{M} p(t_{d}|\pi)]$$

= $E_{q}[\log \prod_{d=1}^{M} \pi_{t_{d}}]$
= $E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,x}^{M,S} \pi_{x}^{I(t_{d}=x)}]$
= $\sum_{d,x}^{M,S} \zeta_{d,x}(\Psi(\mu_{x}) - \Psi(\mu_{0}))$
(C.22)

In Equation (C.18) we derive the expectation term that regards the probability of the words given the subset assigned to the document and the indication of which element of the subset to draw from.

$$E_{q}[\log p(w|\beta, z, t)] = E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} p(w_{d,n}|t_{d}, z_{d,n}, \beta)]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} \beta_{t_{d}.z_{d,n},w_{d,n}}]$$

$$= E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n,x,p,i,j}^{M,N_{d},S,T,K,V} \beta_{i,j}^{I(w_{d,n}=j)I(z_{d,n}=p)I(t_{d}=x)I(x.p=i)}]$$

$$= \sum_{d,n,x,p,i,j}^{M,N_{d},S,T,K,V} \zeta_{d,x}\phi_{d,n,p}(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))I(w_{d,n}=j)I(x.p=i)$$
(C.23)

In Equation (C.24) we derive the expectation term that regards the variational distributions of the proportions over a subset's elements.

$$E_q[\log q(\theta|\gamma)] = E_q[\log \prod_{d=1}^M q(\theta_d|\gamma_d)]$$

= $E_q[\sum_{d=1}^M \log p(\theta_d|\gamma_d)]$
= $\sum_{d,p}^{M,T} (\gamma_{d,p} - 1)(\Psi(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0})) + \sum_{d=1}^M \log \Gamma(\gamma_{d,0}) - \sum_{d,p}^{M,T} \log \Gamma(\gamma_{d,p})$
(C.24)

In Equation (C.25) we derive the expectation term that regards the variational distributions of the topics.

$$E_q[\log q(\beta|\lambda)] = E_q[\log \prod_{i=1}^{K} q(\beta_i|\lambda_i)]$$

= $E_q[\sum_{i=1}^{K} \log p(\beta_i|\lambda_i)]$
= $\sum_{i,j}^{K,V} (\lambda_{i,j} - 1)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})) + \sum_{i=1}^{K} \log \Gamma(\lambda_{i,0}) - \sum_{i,j}^{K,V} \log \Gamma(\lambda_{i,j})$
(C.25)

In Equation (C.26) we derive the expectation term that regards the variational distribution of the proportions over the subsets.

$$E_q[\log q(\pi|\mu)] = \sum_{x=1}^{S} (\mu_x - 1)(\Psi(\mu_x) - \Psi(\mu_0)) + \log \Gamma(\mu_0) - \sum_{x=1}^{S} \log \Gamma(\mu_x) \quad (C.26)$$

In Equation (C.27) we derive the expectation term that regards the variational distributions of the assignment of subset indexes to words.

$$E_{q}[\log q(z|\phi)] = E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} q(z_{d,n}|\phi_{d,n})]$$

= $E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n}^{M,N_{d}} \phi_{d,n,z_{d,n}}]$
= $E_{q}[\log \prod_{d,n,p}^{M,N_{d},T} \phi_{d,n,p}^{I(z_{d,n}=p)}]$
= $\sum_{d,n,p}^{M,N_{d},T} \phi_{d,n,p} \log \phi_{d,n,p}$ (C.27)

In Equation (C.28) we derive the expectation term that regards the variational

distributions of the assignment of subsets to documents.

$$E_q[\log q(t|\zeta)] = E_q[\log \prod_{d=1}^M q(t_d|\zeta_d)]$$

= $E_q[\log \prod_{d=1}^M \zeta_{d,t_d}]$
= $E_q[\log \prod_{d,x}^{M,S} \zeta_{d,x}^{I(t_d=x)}]$
= $\sum_{d,x}^{M,S} \zeta_{d,x} \log \zeta_{d,x}$ (C.28)

C.2 Deriving the Update Formulas of the Variational Parameters

Maximizing the lower bound with respect to every variational parameter leads to the update formulas from Equations (C.31), (C.34), (C.37), (C.40) and (C.43).

Equations (C.29), (C.30) and (C.31) address the maximization with respect to the variational parameter corresponding to the subset proportions.

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mu_x} = (\delta_x - 1)(\Psi(\mu_x) - \Psi(\mu_0)) + (\Psi(\mu_x) - \Psi(\mu_0)) \sum_{d=1}^M \zeta_{d,x} - (\mu_x - 1)(\Psi(\mu_x) - \Psi(\mu_0)) - \log \Gamma(\mu_0) + \log \Gamma(\mu_x)$$
(C.29)

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\mu_x})' = (\delta_x - 1)(\Psi'(\mu_x) - \Psi'(\mu_0)) + (\Psi'(\mu_x) - \Psi'(\mu_0)) \sum_{d=1}^M \zeta_{d,x} - (\mu_x - 1)(\Psi'(\mu_x) - \Psi'(\mu_0)) - \Psi(\mu_x) + \Psi(\mu_0) - \Psi(\mu_0) + \Psi(\mu_x)$$
(C.30)
$$= (\Psi'(\mu_x) - \Psi'(\mu_0))(\delta_x + \sum_{d=1}^M \zeta_{d,x} - \mu_x)$$

$$\mu_x = \delta_x + \sum_{d=1}^M \zeta_{d,x} \tag{C.31}$$

Equations (C.32), (C.33) and (C.34) address the maximization with respect to the variational parameter corresponding to the document-level proportions over the indexes of a subset.

$$\mathcal{L}_{\gamma_{d,p}} = (\alpha_p - 1)(\Psi(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0})) + (\Psi(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0})) \sum_{n=1}^{N_d} \phi_{d,n,p} - (\gamma_{d,p} - 1)(\Psi(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0})) - \log \Gamma(\gamma_{d,0}) + \log \Gamma(\gamma_{d,p})$$
(C.32)

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\gamma_{d,p}})' = (\alpha_p - 1)(\Psi'(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi'(\gamma_{d,0})) + (\Psi'(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi'(\gamma_{d,0})) \sum_{n=1}^{N_d} \phi_{d,n,p} - (\gamma_{d,p} - 1)(\Psi'(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi'(\gamma_{d,0})) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,p}) + \Psi(\gamma_{d,0}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0}) + \Psi(\gamma_{d,p}) = (\Psi'(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi'(\gamma_{d,0}))(\alpha_p + \sum_{n=1}^{N_d} \phi_{d,n,p} - \gamma_{d,p})$$
(C.33)

$$\gamma_{d,p} = \alpha_p + \sum_{n=1}^{N_d} \phi_{d,n,p} \tag{C.34}$$

Equations (C.35), (C.36) and (C.37) address the maximization with respect to the variational parameter corresponding to a topic.

$$\mathcal{L}_{\lambda_{i,j}} = (\eta_j - 1)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})) + \\ + (\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})) \sum_{d,n,x,p}^{M,N_d,S,T} \zeta_{d,x} \phi_{d,n,p} I(w_{d,n} = j) I(x.p = i) - \\ - (\lambda_{i,j} - 1)(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})) - \log \Gamma(\lambda_{i,0}) + \log \Gamma(\lambda_{i,j})$$
(C.35)

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathcal{L}_{\lambda_{i,j}})' &= (\eta_j - 1)(\Psi'(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi'(\lambda_{i,0})) + \\ &+ (\Psi'(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi'(\lambda_{i,0})) \sum_{d,n,x,p}^{M,N_d,S,T} \zeta_{d,x} \phi_{d,n,p} I(w_{d,n} = j) I(x.p = i) - \\ &- (\lambda_{i,j} - 1)(\Psi'(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi'(\lambda_{i,0})) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) + \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}) + \Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) \\ &= (\Psi'(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi'(\lambda_{i,0}))(\eta_j + \sum_{d,n,x,p}^{M,N_d,S,T} \zeta_{d,x} \phi_{d,n,p} I(w_{d,n} = j) I(x.p = i) - \lambda_{d,p}) \end{aligned}$$
(C.36)

C. DETAILED PROOFS FOR THE SUBSET TOPIC MODEL

$$\lambda_{i,j} = \alpha_p + \sum_{d,n,x,p}^{M,N_d,S,T} \zeta_{d,x} \phi_{d,n,p} I(w_{d,n} = j) I(x.p = i)$$
(C.37)

Equations (C.38), (C.39) and (C.40) address the maximization with respect to the variational parameter corresponding to the subset-index assignment to a word. This is a constrained maximization where $\sum_{p=1}^{T} \phi_{d,n,p} = 1$. The Lagrangian is presented below.

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi_{d,n,p}} = \phi_{d,n,p}(\Psi(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0})) + \\ + \phi_{d,n,p} \sum_{x,i,j}^{S,K,V} \zeta_{d,x}(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))I(w_{d,n} = j)I(x.p = i) - \\ - \phi_{d,n,p} \log \phi_{d,n,p} + a_{d,n} \sum_{p=1}^{T} (\phi_{d,n,p} - 1)$$
(C.38)

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\phi_{d,n,p}})' = \Psi(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0}) + \\ + \sum_{x,i,j}^{S,K,V} \zeta_{d,x} (\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0})) I(w_{d,n} = j) I(x.p = i) - \\ - \log \phi_{d,n,p} - 1 + a_{d,n}$$
(C.39)

$$\phi_{d,n,p} \propto \exp\{\Psi(\gamma_{d,p}) - \Psi(\gamma_{d,0}) + \sum_{x,i,j}^{S,K,V} \zeta_{d,x}(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))I(w_{d,n} = j)I(x.p = i)\}$$
(C.40)

Equations (C.41), (C.42) and (C.43) address the maximization with respect to the variational parameter corresponding to the subset assignment to a document. This is a constrained maximization where $\sum_{x=1}^{S} \zeta_{d,x} = 1$. The Lagrangian is presented below.

$$\mathcal{L}_{\zeta_{d,x}} = \zeta_{d,x}(\Psi(\mu_x) - \Psi(\mu_0)) + + \zeta_{d,x} \sum_{n,p,i,j}^{N_d,T,K,V} \phi_{d,n,p}(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))I(w_{d,n} = j)I(x.p = i) - - \zeta_{d,x} \log \zeta_{d,x} + b_d \sum_{x=1}^{S} (\zeta_{d,x} - 1)$$
(C.41)

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\zeta_{d,x}})' = \Psi(\mu_x) - \Psi(\mu_0) + \\ + \sum_{n,p,i,j}^{N_d,T,K,V} \phi_{d,n,p}(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))I(w_{d,n} = j)I(x.p = i) - \\ - \log \zeta_{d,x} - 1 + b_d$$
(C.42)

$$\zeta_{d,x} \propto \exp\{\Psi(\mu_x) - \Psi(\mu_0) + \sum_{n,p,i,j}^{N_d,T,K,V} \phi_{d,n,p}(\Psi(\lambda_{i,j}) - \Psi(\lambda_{i,0}))I(w_{d,n} = j)I(x.p = i)\}$$
(C.43)

C. DETAILED PROOFS FOR THE SUBSET TOPIC MODEL

References

- ABRAMOWITZ, M. (1974). Handbook of Mathematical Functions, With Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables,. Dover Publications, Incorporated. 85, 101, 109
- [2] ALSUMAIT, L., BARBAR, D. & DOMENICONI, C. (2008). On-line lda: Adaptive topic models for mining text streams with applications to topic detection and tracking. In 2008 Eighth IEEE International Conference on Data Mining, 3–12. 19
- [3] ASUNCION, A., WELLING, M., SMYTH, P. & TEH, Y.W. (2009). On smoothing and inference for topic models. In *Proceedings of the Twenty-Fifth Conference on Uncertainty in Artificial Intelligence*, UAI '09, 27–34, AUAI Press, Arlington, Virginia, United States. 16
- [4] BLEI, D. & LAFFERTY, J. (2006). Correlated topic models. Advances in neural information processing systems, 18, 147. 2, 10, 81
- [5] BLEI, D.M. (2012). Probabilistic topic models. Communications of the ACM, 55, 77–84. 1, 7, 9
- [6] BLEI, D.M. (2014). Build, compute, critique, repeat: Data analysis with latent variable models. Annual Review of Statistics and Its Application, 1, 203–232.
 1, 7, 9
- BLEI, D.M. & LAFFERTY, J.D. (2006). Dynamic topic models. In Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference on Machine Learning, ICML '06, 113–120, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 2, 10, 16, 81

- [8] BLEI, D.M. & LAFFERTY, J.D. (2009). Topic models. Text mining: classification, clustering, and applications, 10, 34. 1, 7, 9, 34, 56, 74
- [9] BLEI, D.M., NG, A.Y. & JORDAN, M.I. (2003). Latent dirichlet allocation. *The Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 3, 993–1022. 1, 9, 12, 16, 17, 19, 22, 54
- [10] BLEI, D.M., KUCUKELBIR, A. & MCAULIFFE, J.D. (2016). Variational Inference: A Review for Statisticians. ArXiv e-prints. 16, 17, 30, 72
- [11] CARDOSO-CACHOPO, A. (2007). Improving Methods for Single-label Text Categorization. PdD Thesis, Instituto Superior Tecnico, Universidade Tecnica de Lisboa. 74
- [12] CHANG, J., GERRISH, S., WANG, C., BOYD-GRABER, J.L. & BLEI, D.M. (2009). Reading tea leaves: How humans interpret topic models. In Advances in neural information processing systems, 288–296. 19, 20
- [13] CHEN, W., WANG, J., ZHANG, Y., YAN, H. & LI, X. (2015). User based aggregation for biterm topic model. *Volume 2: Short Papers*, 489. 13, 22
- [14] DAS, R., ZAHEER, M. & DYER, C. (2015). Gaussian lda for topic models with word embeddings. In ACL (1), 795–804. 11
- [15] FAN, R.E., CHANG, K.W., HSIEH, C.J., WANG, X.R. & LIN, C.J. (2008).
 LIBLINEAR: A library for large linear classification. *Journal of Machine Learn*ing Research, 9, 1871–1874. 22
- [16] GRIFFITHS, T.L. & STEYVERS, M. (2004). Finding scientific topics. Proceedings of the National academy of Sciences, 101, 5228–5235. 9
- [17] GRIFFITHS, T.L., STEYVERS, M., BLEI, D.M. & TENENBAUM, J.B. (2005).
 Integrating topics and syntax. In L.K. Saul, Y. Weiss & L. Bottou, eds., Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 17, 537–544, MIT Press. 10

- [18] HALL, M., FRANK, E., HOLMES, G., PFAHRINGER, B., REUTEMANN, P. & WITTEN, I.H. (2009). The weka data mining software: An update. SIGKDD Explor. Newsl., 11, 10–18. 22
- [19] HOFFMAN, M.D., BLEI, D.M. & BACH, F. (2010). Online learning for latent dirichlet allocation. In Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems, NIPS'10, 856–864, Curran Associates Inc., USA. 16, 19, 81
- [20] HOFFMAN, M.D., BLEI, D.M., WANG, C. & PAISLEY, J. (2013). Stochastic variational inference. *The Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 14, 1303–1347. 10, 16, 17, 18, 19, 26, 50, 81
- [21] HOFMANN, T. (1999). Probabilistic latent semantic analysis. In Proceedings of the Fifteenth Conference on Uncertainty in Artificial Intelligence, UAI'99, 289–296, Morgan Kaufmann Publishers Inc., San Francisco, CA, USA. 9, 12
- [22] HONG, L. & DAVISON, B.D. (2010). Empirical study of topic modeling in twitter. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Social Media Analytics*, SOMA '10, 80–88, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 2, 3, 13, 19, 20, 24, 33, 35, 47
- [23] KRUSCHKE, J.K. (2015). Chapter 7 markov chain monte carlo. In J.K. Kruschke, ed., *Doing Bayesian Data Analysis (Second Edition)*, 143 – 191, Academic Press, Boston, second edition edn. 16
- [24] LI, J., LIAO, M., GAO, W., HE, Y. & WONG, K.F. (2016). Topic extraction from microblog posts using conversation structures. In ACL (1), The Association for Computer Linguistics. 12, 15, 20
- [25] LI, W. & MCCALLUM, A. (2006). Pachinko allocation: Dag-structured mixture models of topic correlations. In *Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference on Machine Learning*, ICML '06, 577–584, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 2, 7, 10, 19, 81
- [26] LIN, T., TIAN, W., MEI, Q. & CHENG, H. (2014). The dual-sparse topic model: Mining focused topics and focused terms in short text. In *Proceedings*

of the 23rd International Conference on World Wide Web, WWW '14, 539–550, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 2, 3, 13, 14, 19, 20, 22

- [27] LU, Y., MEI, Q. & ZHAI, C. (2011). Investigating task performance of probabilistic topic models: an empirical study of plsa and lda. *Information Retrieval*, 14, 178–203. 2
- [28] MANNING, C.D., RAGHAVAN, P. & SCHÜTZE, H. (2008). Introduction to Information Retrieval. Cambridge University Press, New York, NY, USA. 21, 22
- [29] MCCALLUM, A., WANG, X. & CORRADA-EMMANUEL, A. (2007). Topic and role discovery in social networks with experiments on enron and academic email. *Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research*, **30**, 249–272. 12
- [30] MCCALLUM, A.K. (1999). Multi-label text classification with a mixture model trained by em. In AAAI 99 Workshop on Text Learning. 12
- [31] MEHROTRA, R., SANNER, S., BUNTINE, W. & XIE, L. (2013). Improving lda topic models for microblogs via tweet pooling and automatic labeling. In Proceedings of the 36th International ACM SIGIR Conference on Research and Development in Information Retrieval, SIGIR '13, 889–892, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 2, 3, 13, 19, 20, 24, 33, 35, 47
- [32] MEI, Q. & ZHAI, C. (2006). A mixture model for contextual text mining. In Proceedings of the 12th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, KDD '06, 649–655, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 7, 11, 12, 81
- [33] MEI, Q., LIU, C., SU, H. & ZHAI, C. (2006). A probabilistic approach to spatiotemporal theme pattern mining on weblogs. In *Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on World Wide Web*, WWW '06, 533–542, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 2, 11, 12, 81
- [34] MIMNO, D., WALLACH, H.M., TALLEY, E., LEENDERS, M. & MCCALLUM,A. (2011). Optimizing semantic coherence in topic models. In *Proceedings of the*

Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, EMNLP '11, 262–272, Association for Computational Linguistics, Stroudsburg, PA, USA. 20

- [35] NEWMAN, D., LAU, J.H., GRIESER, K. & BALDWIN, T. (2010). Automatic evaluation of topic coherence. In Human Language Technologies: The 2010 Annual Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, HLT '10, 100–108, Association for Computational Linguistics, Stroudsburg, PA, USA. 19, 20
- [36] NGUYEN, D.Q., BILLINGSLEY, R., DU, L. & JOHNSON, M. (2015). Improving topic models with latent feature word representations. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 3, 299–313. 3, 8, 11, 12, 13, 16, 20, 24, 33, 56, 66, 73
- [37] NIGAM, K., MCCALLUM, A.K., THRUN, S. & MITCHELL, T. (2000). Text classification from labeled and unlabeled documents using em. *Machine Learning*, **39**, 103–134. 8
- [38] PETROVIĆ, S., OSBORNE, M. & LAVRENKO, V. (2012). Using paraphrases for improving first story detection in news and twitter. In Proceedings of the 2012 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, NAACL HLT '12, 338–346, Association for Computational Linguistics, Stroudsburg, PA, USA. 57
- [39] QUAN, X., KIT, C., GE, Y. & PAN, S.J. (2015). Short and sparse text topic modeling via self-aggregation. In *Proceedings of the 24th International Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, IJCAI'15, 2270–2276, AAAI Press. 2, 14, 15, 22
- [40] ROSEN-ZVI, M., GRIFFITHS, T., STEYVERS, M. & SMYTH, P. (2004). The author-topic model for authors and documents. In *Proceedings of the 20th Conference on Uncertainty in Artificial Intelligence*, UAI '04, 487–494, AUAI Press, Arlington, Virginia, United States. 2, 12, 81

- [41] ROSEN-ZVI, M., CHEMUDUGUNTA, C., GRIFFITHS, T., SMYTH, P. & STEYVERS, M. (2010). Learning author-topic models from text corpora. ACM Transactions on Information Systems, 28, 4:1–4:38. 7, 12
- [42] SASAKI, K., YOSHIKAWA, T. & FURUHASHI, T. (2014). Online topic model for twitter considering dynamics of user interests and topic trends. In *EMNLP*, 1977–1985. 13
- [43] SATO, I. & NAKAGAWA, H. (2012). Rethinking Collapsed Variational Bayes Inference for LDA. ArXiv e-prints. 16
- [44] STEYVERS, M. & GRIFFITHS, T. (2007). Probabilistic topic models. Handbook of latent semantic analysis, 427, 424–440. 9
- [45] TANG, J., MENG, Z., NGUYEN, X., MEI, Q. & ZHANG, M. (2014). Understanding the limiting factors of topic modeling via posterior contraction analysis. In *ICML*, 190–198. 12, 66
- [46] TEH, Y.W., NEWMAN, D. & WELLING, M. (2006). A collapsed variational bayesian inference algorithm for latent dirichlet allocation. In *NIPS*, vol. 6, 1378–1385. 16
- [47] TEH, Y.W., KURIHARA, K. & WELLING, M. (2007). Collapsed variational inference for hdp. In Advances in neural information processing systems, 1481– 1488. 16
- [48] VITALE, D., FERRAGINA, P. & SCAIELLA, U. (2012). Classification of short texts by deploying topical annotations. In *Proceedings of the 34th European Conference on Advances in Information Retrieval*, ECIR'12, 376–387, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg. 74
- [49] VOSECKY, J., JIANG, D., LEUNG, K.W.T. & NG, W. (2013). Dynamic multifaceted topic discovery in twitter. In Proceedings of the 22Nd ACM International Conference on Information & Knowledge Management, CIKM '13, 879–884, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 2, 13, 15, 20, 24

- [50] VOSECKY, J., JIANG, D., LEUNG, K.W.T., XING, K. & NG, W. (2014). Integrating social and auxiliary semantics for multifaceted topic modeling in twitter. ACM Transactions on Internet Technology, 14, 27:1–27:24. 2, 13, 15, 20, 24, 25
- [51] WALLACH, H.M. (2006). Topic modeling: Beyond bag-of-words. In Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference on Machine Learning, ICML '06, 977–984, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 10
- [52] WALLACH, H.M., MURRAY, I., SALAKHUTDINOV, R. & MIMNO, D. (2009). Evaluation methods for topic models. In *Proceedings of the 26th Annual International Conference on Machine Learning*, ICML '09, 1105–1112, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 19
- [53] WANG, C., PAISLEY, J.W. & BLEI, D.M. (2011). Online variational inference for the hierarchical dirichlet process. In *AISTATS*, vol. 2, 4. 10
- [54] WANG, X. & MCCALLUM, A. (2006). Topics over time: A non-markov continuous-time model of topical trends. In *Proceedings of the 12th ACM* SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, KDD '06, 424–433, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 10, 81
- [55] WENG, J., LIM, E.P., JIANG, J. & HE, Q. (2010). Twitterrank: Finding topic-sensitive influential twitterers. In Proceedings of the Third ACM International Conference on Web Search and Data Mining, WSDM '10, 261–270, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 13, 24
- [56] YAN, X., GUO, J., LAN, Y. & CHENG, X. (2013). A biterm topic model for short texts. In *Proceedings of the 22Nd International Conference on World Wide Web*, WWW '13, 1445–1456, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 2, 3, 4, 8, 12, 13, 15, 16, 19, 20, 22, 24, 33, 34, 46, 50, 56, 66, 73, 74
- [57] YAN, X., GUO, J., LAN, Y., XU, J. & CHENG, X. (2015). A probabilistic model for bursty topic discovery in microblogs. In *Proceedings of the Twenty-*

Ninth AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence, AAAI'15, 353–359, AAAI Press. 13

- [58] ZHAI, C., VELIVELLI, A. & YU, B. (2004). A cross-collection mixture model for comparative text mining. In *Proceedings of the Tenth ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining*, KDD '04, 743–748, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 11, 12
- [59] ZHAO, W.X., JIANG, J., WENG, J., HE, J., LIM, E.P., YAN, H. & LI, X. (2011). Comparing twitter and traditional media using topic models. In Proceedings of the 33rd European Conference on Advances in Information Retrieval, ECIR'11, 338–349, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg. 3, 13, 25
- [60] ZHOU, D., CHEN, L. & HE, Y. (2014). A simple bayesian modelling approach to event extraction from twitter. In *Proceedings of the 52nd Annual Meeting* of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers), 700–705, Association for Computational Linguistics, Baltimore, Maryland. 14
- [61] ZUO, Y., WU, J., ZHANG, H., LIN, H., WANG, F., XU, K. & XIONG, H. (2016). Topic modeling of short texts: A pseudo-document view. In *Proceedings* of the 22Nd ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, KDD '16, 2105–2114, ACM, New York, NY, USA. 2, 3, 12, 13, 14